Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: September 17, 2015 ACCEPTED: October 16, 2015 PUBLISHED: November 6, 2015

Pure gravities via color-kinematics duality for fundamental matter

Henrik Johansson^a and Alexander Ochirov^b

^a Theory Division, Physics Department, CERN, CH-1211 Geneva 23, Switzerland
^b Institut de Physique Théorique, CEA-Saclay, F-91191 Gif-sur-Yvette cedex, France

E-mail: henrik.johansson@cern.ch, alexander.ochirov@cea.fr

ABSTRACT: We give a prescription for the computation of loop-level scattering amplitudes in pure Einstein gravity, and four-dimensional pure supergravities, using the colorkinematics duality. Amplitudes are constructed using double copies of pure (super-)Yang-Mills parts and additional contributions from double copies of fundamental matter, which are treated as ghosts. The opposite-statistics states cancel the unwanted dilaton and axion in the bosonic theory, as well as the extra matter supermultiplets in the supergravity theories. As a spinoff, we obtain a prescription for obtaining amplitudes in supergravities with arbitrary non-self-interacting matter. As a prerequisite, we extend the color-kinematics duality from the adjoint to the fundamental representation of the gauge group. We explain the numerator relations that the fundamental kinematic Lie algebra should satisfy. We give nontrivial evidence supporting our construction using explicit tree and loop amplitudes, as well as more general arguments.

KEYWORDS: Supersymmetric gauge theory, Scattering Amplitudes, Supergravity Models, Gauge Symmetry

ARXIV EPRINT: 1407.4772



Contents

1	Intr	oduction	2			
2	Color-kinematics duality in the fundamental representation					
	2.1	Kinematic numerators and color factors	4			
	2.2	Some concrete examples	9			
		2.2.1 Four-point tree amplitudes	9			
		2.2.2 Five-point tree amplitudes	12			
	2.3	On-shell spectrum and supermultiplets	14			
3	Construction of pure gravity theories					
	3.1	Double copies of physical states	17			
	3.2	Numerator double copies	18			
	3.3	Gauge invariance of the gravity construction	20			
	3.4	Checks of two-loop cuts	21			
	3.5	General multiloop argument	24			
4	One	-loop four-point gauge-theory amplitudes with internal matter	26			
	4.1	Reducing numerators to a master	26			
	4.2	The ansatz construction	28			
	4.3	Imposing symmetries and cuts	30			
	4.4	The amplitude assembly	31			
	4.5	The amplitude with $\mathcal{N} = 2$ fundamental or adjoint matter	33			
	4.6	The amplitude with $\mathcal{N} = 1$ fundamental matter	35			
	4.7	The MHV amplitude with fundamental $\mathcal{N} = 0$ scalar matter	38			
	4.8	The MHV amplitude with fundamental $\mathcal{N} = 0$ fermion matter	40			
5	One-loop four-point supergravity amplitudes					
	5.1	Matter amplitudes	41			
	5.2	Pure gravity amplitudes	43			
6	Con	clusion and outlook	45			
\mathbf{A}	A Specific matter interactions 4					

1 Introduction

Recent progress in the understanding of scattering amplitudes has revealed many novel mathematical structures that are hidden from the standard Lagrangian approach. One of the new structures, discovered by Bern, Carrasco and one of the current authors [1, 2], is a duality between the kinematic and color content of gauge theories. Amplitudes can be constructed using kinematic numerators that satisfy Lie-algebraic relations mirroring those of the color factors. This has both interesting practical and conceptual consequences. It greatly simplifies the construction of loop amplitudes in (super-)Yang-Mills theory, and more importantly, the duality relates multiloop integrands of (super-)Yang-Mills amplitudes to those of (super-)gravity via a double-copy procedure. This has triggered a number of calculations and novel results in $\mathcal{N} \geq 4$ supergravity that are otherwise extremely difficult to obtain [3–13].

While the duality is a conjecture for loop amplitudes, it is supported by strong evidence through four loops in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM [2, 4, 14] and through two loops in pure Yang-Mills (YM) theory [2, 15]. Additional evidence comes from the attempts to understand the kinematic algebra [16–18] and the Lagrangian formulation [19, 20] of the duality. The appearance of similar structures in string theory [21–30], Chern-Simons-matter theories [31–33], and, more recently, scattering equations [18, 34–37] sheds light on the universality of the duality.

The color-kinematics duality was originally formulated for gauge theories with all fields in the adjoint representation of the gauge group. The gravity theories that can be obtained from the corresponding double copy of adjoint fields are known as "factorizable" [10, 38]. For $\mathcal{N} < 4$ supersymmetry, such factorizable gravities have fixed matter content that goes beyond the minimal multiplets required by supersymmetry, thus they are non-pure supergravities. While this limitation is of little consequence at tree level, for loop amplitudes the inability to decouple or freely tune the extra matter content is a severe obstruction. Many interesting gravity theories, such as Einstein gravity, pure $\mathcal{N} < 4$ supergravity, or supergravities with generic matter, have been inaccessible at loop level from the point of view of color-kinematics duality. In contrast to this, the loop-level construction of pure $4 \leq \mathcal{N} \leq 8$ supergravities is well known [2, 5, 6].

Recently, the color-kinematics duality has been studied away from the case of purelyadjoint gauge theories. The duality has been fleshed out in the context of quiver gauge theories [38] (see also refs. [32, 33]), where fields are in the adjoint and bi-fundamental representations. This construction of the color-kinematics duality stays somewhat close to the adjoint case thanks to the theory formulation through orbifold projections of adjoint parent theories. The resulting double-copy prescription of ref. [38] gave many non-factorizable gravities, even if not pure supergravities.

In this paper, we eliminate the discussed limitations and formulate a double-copy prescription for amplitude integrands in Einstein gravity, pure supergravity theories, and supergravities with tunable non-self-interacting matter.¹ This is achieved by introducing the color-kinematics duality to gauge theories with matter fields in the fundamental rep-

 $^{^{1}}$ By "non-self-interacting matter" we mean no interactions beyond those required by general coordinate invariance and supersymmetry; i.e. distinct matter supermultiplets do not interact directly with each other.

resentation. We note that even at tree level, for four or more fundamental particles, the double copy that follows from the fundamental color-kinematics duality is distinct from the field-theory KLT relations [39, 40].

Our main task is to obtain amplitudes for pure $\mathcal{N} < 4$ supergravities, including Einstein gravity. To do this, we combine double copies of the adjoint and fundamental representations with a ghost prescription. The double copies of fundamental matter are promoted to opposite-statistics states, which then cancel the unwanted matter content in the factorizable gravities or adjoint double copies. This construction critically relies on the double copies of fermionic fundamental matter or supersymmetric extensions thereof. As a naive alternative in the $\mathcal{N} = 0$ case, the fundamental scalar double copy works at one loop, but starting at two loops it produces interactions that no longer cancel the dilaton-axion states. Although fundamental-scalar amplitudes appear to nontrivially satisfy the color-kinematics duality, the corresponding double copies indicate that the gravity amplitudes are corrected by four-scalar terms, and possibly higher-order interactions, which is consistent with the analysis of ref. [41]. In the present paper, we limit ourselves to the scalars that are paired up with fermions within supersymmetric multiplets.

While we do not provide a rigorous proof of our framework, we show its validity on various example calculations through two loops, and we give a multiloop argument using the effective R-symmetry of the tree amplitudes present in unitarity cuts. As a warm-up, we discuss non-supersymmetric tree-level amplitudes. At one loop, we obtain several duality-satisfying four-point numerators with internal fundamental matter. Using these, we reproduce four-point one-loop $\mathcal{N} \leq 4$ supergravity amplitudes with external graviton multiplets, with or without matter in the loop. As a highly nontrivial check at two loops, we show in detail how our prescription cancels out the dilaton and axion in the unitarity cuts of the four- and five-point two-loop amplitudes in Einstein gravity.

Interestingly, our approach directly generalizes to amplitudes in (super-)gravity theories with arbitrary non-self-interacting matter: abelian vectors, fermions and scalars. Indeed, once we obtain the tools to correctly subtract unwanted matter from loops, we can reverse the procedure and instead add more matter, introducing tunable parameters to count the number of matter states. This generalization has a simple intuitive understanding: the limited set of factorizable gravities can be attributed to the "straightjacket" imposed by the purely-adjoint color-kinematics duality with its unique color representation. As soon as we relax this, and "complexify" the duality to include the fundamental representation, we naturally gain access to a wider range of (super-)gravities. Indeed, this observation is consistent with the quiver and orbifold constructions of ref. [38]. That said, interesting gravitational matter amplitudes can also be obtained through adjoint double copies [42, 43] that give an arbitrary amount of non-abelian vector multiplets.

This paper is organized as follows. We start section 2 by the general definition of color-kinematics duality for the fundamental and adjoint representations, and proceed to illustrate its validity in four- and five-point non-supersymmetric tree amplitudes. In that part, we also introduce the relevant super-Yang-Mills (SYM) multiplets. In section 3, we give the prescription for the double-copy construction of pure gravity theories, as well as the arguments in its favor. In particular, in section 3.4, we show explicitly how it removes

the dilaton and axion from the two-loop unitarity cuts in Einstein gravity. In section 3.5, we give a multiloop argument based on the effective R-symmetry of the tree amplitudes entering the unitarity cuts. After these nontrivial checks, in section 4, we find all the color-dual four-point one-loop numerators for internal fundamental matter, and in section 5 we use these numerators to reproduce all one-loop four-point supergravity amplitudes with external graviton multiplets, with or without matter in the loop.

2 Color-kinematics duality in the fundamental representation

In this section, we describe the general approach for exposing color-kinematics duality in scattering amplitudes of YM theories that have both adjoint and fundamental particles. We start with a general formal setup, then give some concrete examples, and finish by explicitly listing the states of the YM theories under consideration.

2.1 Kinematic numerators and color factors

It is convenient to write the amplitudes of D-dimensional (super-)Yang-Mills theory with fundamental matter as²

$$\mathcal{A}_{m}^{L\text{-loop}} = i^{L-1} g^{m+2L-2} \sum_{i} \int \frac{d^{LD}\ell}{(2\pi)^{LD}} \frac{1}{S_{i}} \frac{n_{i}c_{i}}{D_{i}}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where the sum runs over all *m*-point *L*-loop graphs with trivalent vertices of two kinds, (adj., adj., adj.) and (adj., fund., antifund.), corresponding to particle lines of two types: adjoint vector and fundamental matter. For simplicity, each distinct assignment of vertices and internal lines is denoted by a unique graph label, here called *i*. The color factors c_i are built out of products of structure constants \tilde{f}^{abc} and generators $T^a_{j\bar{k}}$ matching the respective vertices. Each denominator, D_i , is a product of the squared momenta of all internal lines of the graph, thus accounting for all the physical propagator poles. S_i are the usual symmetry factors that, for example, appear in Feynman diagrams. The numerators n_i are functions of momenta, polarizations and other relevant quantum numbers (excluding color).

An important property of the representation (2.1) is that the color factors satisfy linear relations of the schematic form

$$c_i - c_j = c_k \,, \tag{2.2}$$

which originate from the Jacobi identity and the commutation relation for the generators of the gauge group:

$$\tilde{f}^{dac}\tilde{f}^{cbe} - \tilde{f}^{dbc}\tilde{f}^{cae} = \tilde{f}^{abc}\tilde{f}^{dce}, \qquad (2.3a)$$

$$T^{a}_{i\bar{j}}T^{b}_{j\bar{k}} - T^{b}_{i\bar{j}}T^{a}_{j\bar{k}} = \tilde{f}^{abc}T^{c}_{i\bar{k}}.$$
 (2.3b)

These relations are illustrated in figure 1. Note that we work with the normalization convention in which the right-hand side of eq. (2.3b) is free of factors of i and $\sqrt{2}$. Additionally, we normalize the generators so that $\text{Tr}(T^aT^b) = \delta^{ab}$, which together with eq. (2.3b) implies

²We use a different numerator normalization compared to ref. [2]. Relative to that work, we absorb one factor of i into the numerator, giving a uniform overall i^{L-1} to the gauge and gravity amplitudes.



Figure 1. The kinematic algebra in the vector case (a) and in the fundamental matter case (b). Curly lines represent gluons or vector supermultiplets, solid lines represents fermions, scalars or supersymmetric matter. Alternatively, these diagrams describe standard Lie-algebra relations for the color factors of the gauge group.

that $\tilde{f}^{abc} = \text{Tr}([T^a, T^b]T^c) = \sqrt{2}if^{abc}$, where f^{abc} are the structure constants more commonly found in the literature. The above choices imply that the generators are hermitian, $(T^a_{i\bar{j}})^* = T^a_{j\bar{i}}$, and the structure constants are imaginary³ $(\tilde{f}^{abc})^* = -\tilde{f}^{abc}$.

The second property of the representation (2.1) is the Z_2 -freedom in the definition of the color factors: the interchange of two adjoint indices of the same vertex amounts to a flip in the overall sign of the color factor, i.e.

$$c_j \to -c_j$$
 : $(\dots \tilde{f}^{abc} \dots) \to -(\dots \tilde{f}^{abc} \dots) = (\dots \tilde{f}^{bac} \dots).$ (2.4)

To streamline the notation, we adopt the convention that the interchange of a fundamental and an antifundamental leg also induces a sign flip of the color factors. This amounts to introducing new generators T_{ij}^a that are trivially related to the standard ones:

$$T^a_{\bar{\imath}j} \equiv -T^a_{j\bar{\imath}}.$$
 (2.5)

When the generators have suppressed superscripts, we write them as $\overline{T}^a \equiv (T^a)_{ij}$. With this convention we note that a color factor picks up a minus sign whenever two legs attached to a cubic vertex of any representation are interchanged. In practice, this means that we can identify the relative sign of a vertex with the cyclic orientation of its three legs, thus clockwise and counterclockwise orderings have different overall signs.

While we mainly consider matter particles to be in the fundamental representation of the gauge group, it is sometimes convenient to work with adjoint matter. The latter is obtained by simply swapping the generators as follows:

$$T^a_{i\bar{j}} \to \tilde{f}^{bac}$$
 with $i \to b, \ \bar{j} \to c.$ (2.6)

By applying this rule, one goes from a complex representation to a real one, which makes the color factors of matter and antimatter fields indistinguishable from one another. Let

³Note that the choice of imaginary structure constants gives adjoint generators that are hermitian $(T^a_{adj})_{bc} = (T^a_{adj})^*_{cb}$, where $(T^a_{adj})_{bc} \equiv \tilde{f}^{bac}$.



Figure 2. A typical one-loop graph with external adjoint and internal fundamental particles.

us illustrate how this affects a one-loop amplitude in the form (2.1), as is relevant for the explicit calculations of section 4.

Consider the one-loop "ring diagram" shown in figure 2. Its color factor is

$$c_{12...m} = \operatorname{Tr}(T^{a_1}T^{a_2}\dots T^{a_m}) \equiv T^{a_1}_{i\bar{j}}T^{a_2}_{j\bar{k}}\dots T^{a_m}_{l\bar{\imath}}.$$
 (2.7)

Now consider the same diagram, but with the internal arrows reversed. Throughout this paper, we will denote the operation of reversing fundamental matter arrows (matter \leftrightarrow antimatter) by a bar, hence the corresponding color factor is given by

$$\overline{c}_{12\dots m} = \operatorname{Tr}(\overline{T}^{a_1}\overline{T}^{a_2}\dots\overline{T}^{a_m}) \equiv T^{a_1}_{\overline{i}j}T^{a_2}_{\overline{j}k}\dots T^{a_m}_{\overline{l}i} = (-1)^m \operatorname{Tr}(T^{a_m}\dots T^{a_2}T^{a_1}).$$
(2.8)

These two diagrams have the same propagators but different color factors. However, if we promote them to the adjoint representation using the rule (2.6), both color factors (2.7) and (2.8) are mapped to the same object

$$c_{12\dots m}^{\mathrm{adj}} = \tilde{f}^{ba_1c} \tilde{f}^{ca_2d} \dots \tilde{f}^{ea_m b}.$$
(2.9)

Since the two graphs have now identical color factors, it is natural to repackage them as follows:

$$c_{12...m}n_{12...m} + \bar{c}_{12...m}\bar{n}_{12...m} \longrightarrow c_{12...m}^{\text{adj}}(n_{12...m} + \bar{n}_{12...m}) \equiv c_{12...m}^{\text{adj}}n_{12...m}^{\text{adj}}, \quad (2.10)$$

where $\overline{n}_{12...m}$ denotes the antimatter contribution, and $n_{12...m}^{\text{adj}}$ defines an effective numerator for adjoint matter inside the loop. As can be easily verified, for generic one-loop numerators with adjoint external states and internal matter, the same convenient relation exists between the fundamental and adjoint contributions,

$$n_i^{\text{adj}} = n_i + \overline{n}_i \,. \tag{2.11}$$

In the case that the matter multiplet is effectively non-chiral, implying that n_i is CPTinvariant and $n_i = \overline{n}_i$ from the start, eq. (2.10) gives a numerator from a non-minimal adjoint-matter multiplet. Then the definition $n_i^{\text{adj}} = n_i = (n_i + \overline{n}_i)/2$ may be more convenient to use, since it gives the minimal-multiplet contribution.

Returning to the general multiloop amplitude, we note that thus far the formula (2.1) is a trivial rewrite of standard (super-)Yang-Mills perturbation theory. The only minor



Figure 3. An additional two-term kinematic identity that can be imposed on the numerators for indistinguishable fermions in spacetime dimensions D = 3, 4, 6, 10, or for indistinguishable complex scalars in any dimension. However, this relation is not mandatory for the color-kinematics duality. In fact, the corresponding color factors will in general not satisfy this relation.

change is that we have implicitly absorbed the quartic interactions into the cubic graphs. To expose a duality between color and kinematics [1, 2], we need to enforce nontrivial constraints on the kinematic numerators, effectively making them behave as objects of a kinematic Lie algebra. In particular, we demand that the numerator factors obey the algebraic relations that are ubiquitous for color factors of any Lie algebra. Namely, the Jacobi/commutation relations (2.2) and the antisymmetry (2.4) under the interchange of legs attached to a single vertex. These imply dual relations schematically written as follows:

$$n_i - n_j = n_k \qquad \Leftrightarrow \quad c_i - c_j = c_k \,, \tag{2.12a}$$

$$n_i \to -n_i \quad \Leftrightarrow \qquad c_i \to -c_i \,. \tag{2.12b}$$

For every such three-term color identity, there is a corresponding kinematic numerator identity, and for each sign flip in a color factor, there is a corresponding sign flip in the kinematic numerator.

Note that the three-term identities for numerators take the same pictorial form as the Lie-algebra identities for color factors, as shown in figure 1. However, they now represent the kinematic constraints that can be consistently imposed on the interactions involving not only adjoint but also fundamental particles. That these constraints are consistent with the amplitudes of various (super-)Yang-Mills theories is highly nontrivial. In the purely-adjoint case, the constraints lead to so-called BCJ relations between tree-level amplitudes, which have been proven in the context of string [21, 22] and field theory [34, 44–46].

In addition to the three-term Jacobi/commutation identities, we find that we can impose a nontrivial two-term constraint, shown in figure 3, valid for fundamental matter numerators in particular situations. For the four-point pure-matter amplitude, corresponding to the diagrams in figure 3, the identity is simply

$$n_t = n_s \,, \tag{2.13}$$

where n_t and n_s are the t- and s-channel kinematic numerators, respectively. For indistinguishable complex scalars, whose Lagrangian includes both the minimal coupling to the gauge field and a quartic-scalar term (see appendix A), the two-term identity holds in any spacetime dimension. It is also applicable for indistinguishable minimal-Lorentzrepresentation fermions in D = 3, 4, 6, 10 dimensions. This can be shown by considering the real or non-chiral version of the two-term identity, i.e. by converting between complex and real scalars, or Weyl and Majorana fermions. For a real scalar, the identity becomes equivalent to the adjoint Jacobi relation for kinematic numerators, which holds at tree level because the (YM + scalar)-theory is equivalent to pure YM theory in the higherby-one spacetime dimension. For the non-chiral (Majorana) fermion, the identity again becomes equivalent to the adjoint Jacobi relation for kinematic numerators, which holds in D = 3, 4, 6, 10 due to a Fierz identity, as shown in ref. [38], where the numerators and amplitudes belong to $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SYM theory.

Although this identity can be consistently imposed in, say, D = 4, it is actually not necessary for obtaining an amplitude that satisfies the color-kinematics duality. Without going into details, this can be seen from the observation that the corresponding color factors will in general not satisfy this relation. In terms of the generators, it would correspond to

$$T^{a}_{i\bar{j}}T^{a}_{k\bar{l}} \stackrel{?}{=} T^{a}_{i\bar{l}}T^{a}_{k\bar{j}}.$$
 (2.14)

Although fundamental representations of generic gauge groups do not obey this relation, the generator of U(1) does, as well as generators of particular tensor representations of U(N).⁴ A sufficient condition for exhibiting color-kinematics duality is that the kinematic numerators obey the same *general* relations as the color factors. Since eq. (2.14) is not a general identity, imposing it on the numerators is optional. Indeed, for fermion amplitudes in general spacetime dimension, the rule (2.13) would be inconsistent. For the purpose of dimensional regularization, where $D = 4 - 2\epsilon$, we also do not want to rely on a fourdimensional identity.

An important feature of the amplitude representation (2.1) is its non-uniqueness. As the numerators of individual diagrams are not gauge-invariant, they have a shift freedom that leaves the amplitude invariant. It is known as generalized gauge invariance [1, 2]. More precisely, a shift of the numerators $n_i \rightarrow n_i + \Delta_i$ does not change the amplitude, provided that Δ_i satisfy

$$\sum_{i} \int \frac{d^{LD}\ell}{(2\pi)^{DL}} \frac{1}{S_i} \frac{\Delta_i c_i}{D_i} = 0.$$
 (2.15)

The duality conditions (2.12) constrain to some extent the freedom of the numerators, but not entirely. The remaining freedom to move terms between different diagrams means that there usually exist many different amplitude representations that obey color-kinematics duality. This can be useful for finding representations that make various properties manifest. But more importantly, generalized gauge invariance provides a guidance for constructing gravity amplitudes out of the gauge-theory numerators. Any prescription for this must preserve the generalized gauge invariance: the gravity amplitudes cannot depend on the arbitrariness of the gauge-theory numerators. We will use this fact in section 3.3.

⁴For example, consider the symmetric (antisymmetric) part of the $N \otimes N$ representation of U(N) with generators $\widetilde{T}^a_{\beta\gamma} = \text{Tr}(M_{\beta}T^aM_{\gamma}^*)$, where M_{β} form a basis of symmetric (antisymmetric) N-by-N matrices.

In general, we know that the color-kinematics duality provides a simple method [1, 2] for constructing gravity amplitudes via a double copy of the numerators:

$$\mathcal{M}_{m}^{L\text{-loop}} = i^{L-1} \left(\frac{\kappa}{2}\right)^{m+2L-2} \sum_{i} \int \frac{d^{LD}\ell}{(2\pi)^{DL}} \frac{1}{S_{i}} \frac{n_{i}n_{i}'}{D_{i}}, \qquad (2.16)$$

where the gravity theory is determined by the choice of a pair of two gauge theories, encoded in the numerators n_i and n'_i . An alternative way [5] to think of this prescription is to take the gauge-theory amplitude (2.1) and replace $c_i \to n'_i$. For this to be consistent, n'_i must satisfy the same general algebraic relations as c_i , i.e. the numerators must obey color-kinematics duality. However, it is known that the n_i in eq. (2.16) need not satisfy the duality [2, 19]. In section 3, we will present a generalization of eq. (2.16) specific to pure gravity theories, and also explain how one can generalize the replacement $c_i \to n'_i$ to get gravity amplitudes with generic non-self-interacting matter.

2.2 Some concrete examples

In order to make the discussion in the previous section more concrete, and to connect to the standard Feynman diagram expansion, here we give examples of color-kinematics duality for two simple tree-level amplitudes.

2.2.1 Four-point tree amplitudes

Consider the four-quark tree-level amplitude in QCD, $q\bar{q}q\bar{q}$, where we set the quark masses to zero. If we take legs 1 and 3 to be quarks and legs 2 and 4 to be antiquarks and do not distinguish between flavors, then the amplitude is the sum of the following two Feynman diagrams:

$$2^{+}, \bar{j} \qquad 3^{-}, k \qquad 2^{+}, \bar{j} \qquad 3^{-}, k \qquad 1^{-}, i \qquad 4^{+}, \bar{l} \qquad 1^{-}, i \qquad 4^{+}, \bar{l} \qquad 1^{-}, i \qquad 4^{+}, \bar{l} \qquad (2.17)$$

Here and below, we use the standard notation for spinor products and the Mandelstam invariants:

$$s_{ij} \equiv (k_i + k_j)^2 = \langle ij \rangle [ji], \qquad s \equiv (k_1 + k_2)^2, \qquad t \equiv (k_2 + k_3)^2, \qquad u \equiv (k_1 + k_3)^2.$$

(2.18)

An important property of the above amplitude is that the corresponding u-channel diagram cannot be constructed from Feynman rules. It is kinematically zero because of the external helicity choices, and similarly forbidden because the color state of the u-channel state has no overlap with the adjoint representation. This meshes well with the fact that these diagrams comprise a representation where kinematics is dual to color. That the Feynman rules land exactly on such a representation is a somewhat accidental property of the particularly simple amplitude, and it can be traced back to the gauge invariance of the individual diagrams. Indeed, there exist no (generalized) gauge freedom that can



Figure 4. A double copy (2.22) of diagrams that obeys the color-kinematics duality in the fundamental representation. It gives a four-scalar amplitude with gravitational interactions.

shuffle terms between the two numerators. This is clear if we consider the quarks to have two different flavors, e.g. $q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'$. Then only the first of the above diagrams is allowed in the amplitude and thus must be gauge invariant by itself.

Let us take a step back and carefully check that we have an amplitude representation of the form described in the previous section. First of all, as the only adjoint particle is the intermediate gluon, neither of the two identities of the kinematical algebra (shown in figure 1) is applicable. However, we do have the option to enforce the two-term identity in D = 4. But since the numerators are already unique, the identity should be automatically true. Indeed, looking at the two numerators we have

$$n_s = \langle 13 \rangle [24] = n_t \,. \tag{2.19}$$

This example may seem trivial on the YM side, but it is highly nontrivial that one can now construct gravity amplitudes using these numerators. For example, the four-photon amplitude⁵ is given by

$$M_4^{\text{tree}}(1^-_{\gamma}, 2^+_{\gamma}, 3^-_{\gamma}, 4^+_{\gamma}) = -i\frac{n_s^2}{s} - i\frac{n_t^2}{t} = -i\langle 13\rangle^2 [24]^2 \left(\frac{1}{s} + \frac{1}{t}\right).$$
(2.20)

And if we have two types of U(1)-vectors, say γ and γ' , we have the following amplitude

$$M_4^{\text{tree}}(1^-_{\gamma}, 2^+_{\gamma}, 3^-_{\gamma'}, 4^+_{\gamma'}) = -i\frac{n_s^2}{s} = -i\langle 13\rangle^2 [24]^2 \frac{1}{s}, \qquad (2.21)$$

simply obtained by removing the *t*-channel graph.

There are many interesting generalizations of these amplitudes, including fermionic states, but let us now focus on the amplitudes that will be relevant for obtaining pure Einstein gravity. We are interested in the "impurities" that come from dilaton and axion amplitudes. Since these particles are scalars, their amplitudes have no helicity weights, and the double copies should then be such that the external helicities are anticorrelated, as shown in figure 4. The amplitude in that figure is given by

$$M_4^{\text{tree}}(1_{\varphi}^{-+}, 2_{\varphi}^{+-}, 3_{\varphi}^{-+}, 4_{\varphi}^{+-}) = -i\frac{n_s\overline{n}_s}{s} + i\frac{n_t\overline{n}_t}{t} = -iu^2\left(\frac{1}{s} + \frac{1}{t}\right) = i\frac{u^3}{st}, \quad (2.22)$$

where, as before, \overline{n}_i are the numerators in eq. (2.17) with conjugated matter and antimatter.

⁵We use plain M to denote gravity amplitudes with omitted factors of $\kappa/2$, i.e. $\kappa = 2$.



Figure 5. An equality between two different double copies: with two distinct fermion lines and with a single fermion line. Note that the propagators are implicitly included in this identity, and the t- and u-channel poles on the second line are spurious.

Indeed, the states in the amplitude (2.22) correspond to a complex scalar φ^{-+} that can be understood as a linear combination of the dilaton and axion, $\varphi^{-+} \sim \phi + ia$, and similarly for the complex conjugate $\varphi^{+-} \sim \phi - ia$. If we have two different complex scalars, φ and φ' , then we can have the following amplitude by removing the *t*-channel graph:

$$M_4^{\text{tree}}(1_{\varphi}^{-+}, 2_{\varphi}^{+-}, 3_{\varphi'}^{-+}, 4_{\varphi'}^{+-}) = -i\frac{n_s\overline{n}_s}{s} = -i\frac{u^2}{s}.$$
 (2.23)

As will be crucial for us in the following, these dilaton-axion amplitudes were constructed by taking double copies of quark states. This is not the conventional way, as most often we think of dilaton-axion amplitudes as arising in the double copy of YM amplitudes with only gluon states, corresponding to states with polarization tensors $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}^{+-} = \varepsilon_{\mu}^{+}\varepsilon_{\nu}^{-}$, $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}^{-+} = \varepsilon_{\mu}^{-}\varepsilon_{\nu}^{+}$. In particular, in the KLT formalism [39], we would obtain the gravity amplitude in eq. (2.22) as a product of color-ordered gluon amplitudes:

$$M_4^{\text{tree}}(1_{\varphi}^{-+}, 2_{\varphi}^{+-}, 3_{\varphi}^{-+}, 4_{\varphi}^{+-}) = -isA_4^{\text{tree}}(1_g^{-}, 2_g^{+}, 3_g^{-}, 4_g^{+})A_4^{\text{tree}}(2_g^{-}, 1_g^{+}, 3_g^{+}, 4_g^{-}) = i\frac{u^3}{st},$$
(2.24)

which gives the same result as our construction in eq. (2.22). Similarly, one can build the amplitude in eq. (2.23) through the double copy of gluons and a single fermion pair, either using the KLT prescription or the color-kinematics duality for adjoint and fundamental particles. The KLT formula gives

$$M_4^{\text{tree}}(1_{\varphi}^{-+}, 2_{\varphi}^{+-}, 3_{\varphi'}^{-+}, 4_{\varphi'}^{+-}) = -isA_4^{\text{tree}}(1_f^{-}, 2_f^{+}, 3_g^{-}, 4_g^{+})A_4^{\text{tree}}(2_f^{-}, 1_f^{+}, 3_g^{+}, 4_g^{-}) = -i\frac{u^2}{s},$$
(2.25)

which again agrees with eq. (2.23). Since the KLT approach is equivalent to the tree-level adjoint color-kinematics double copy, we have an interesting equality between the double copies of a single diagram (2.23) and a triplet of diagrams, as is illustrated in figure 5.

For amplitudes with a single fermion pair, one can take the fermions either in the adjoint or in the fundamental representation, and the color-kinematics duality and doublecopy construction work in the same way for both cases. This, together with the identity in figure 5, explains why we were able to obtain the four-point amplitudes from both the KLT approach and the fundamental color-kinematics duality. However, in general, at higher points, the KLT formula [39, 40] will not be able to reproduce the wide range of gravitational interactions that can be obtained from the double copy of diagrams satisfying the fundamental color-kinematics duality. This is because the latter approach should admit an unlimited number of distinguishable (chiral) matter particles (see section 3.2), whereas the KLT formula should be limited to the double-copy spectrum of the adjoint states naturally occurring in SYM theories.

2.2.2 Five-point tree amplitudes

The ease of constructing four-point gravity amplitudes is no coincidence. Let us add another particle to the picture, a gluon, and observe how the double-copy structure generalizes. For easier bookkeeping, we first assume that the quarks have distinct flavors, so the process is of the following type: $q\bar{q}q'\bar{q}'g$. There are only five nonvanishing tree-level diagrams that can be constructed from Feynman rules. For completeness, we give all five contributions:

$$3^{-}, k \qquad 4^{+}, \bar{l} \qquad 5, a = \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{1}{s_{15} s_{34}} T^{a}_{i\bar{m}} T^{b}_{m\bar{j}} T^{b}_{k\bar{l}} \langle 1|\varepsilon_{5}|1+5|3\rangle [24] = -i \frac{c_{1} n_{1}}{D_{1}}, \qquad (2.26a)$$

$$2^{+}, j = 1^{-}, i$$

$$3^{-}, k = -\frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{1}{s_{12}s_{45}} T^{b}_{k\bar{m}} T^{a}_{m\bar{l}} \langle 13 \rangle [2|4+5|\varepsilon_{5}|4] = -i \frac{c_{4}n_{4}}{D_{4}}, \qquad (2.26d)$$

$$2^{+}, \bar{i} = -\frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{1}{s_{12}s_{45}} T^{b}_{k\bar{m}} T^{a}_{m\bar{l}} \langle 13 \rangle [2|4+5|\varepsilon_{5}|4] = -i \frac{c_{4}n_{4}}{D_{4}}, \qquad (2.26d)$$

The amplitude is the sum of these five diagrams.

0 + -

In eq. (2.26), we defined five color factors c_i that satisfy two Lie algebra identities:

$$c_1 - c_2 = -c_5 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad T^a_{i\bar{m}} T^b_{m\bar{j}} T^b_{k\bar{l}} - T^b_{i\bar{m}} T^a_{m\bar{j}} T^b_{k\bar{l}} = -\tilde{f}^{abc} T^b_{i\bar{j}} T^c_{k\bar{l}}, \tag{2.27a}$$

$$c_3 - c_4 = c_5 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \quad T^b_{i\bar{j}} T^a_{k\bar{m}} T^b_{m\bar{l}} - T^b_{i\bar{j}} T^b_{k\bar{m}} T^a_{m\bar{l}} = \tilde{f}^{abc} T^b_{i\bar{j}} T^c_{k\bar{l}}.$$
 (2.27b)

For the amplitude to satisfy the color-kinematics duality, it is necessary that the kinematic numerators n_i obey the corresponding identities $n_1 - n_2 = -n_5$ and $n_3 - n_4 = n_5$. As we are not yet probing the four-gluon vertex, it turns out that these identities automatically hold for the above Feynman diagrams, provided the gluon polarization vector is transverse. This can be verified using some spinor algebra involving Schouten identities, for instance:

$$\langle 1|\varepsilon_5|1+5|3\rangle[24] + \langle 13\rangle[2|\varepsilon_5|2+5|4] = -\langle 1|\varepsilon_5|2]\langle 3|5|4] + \langle 1|5|2]\langle 3|\varepsilon_5|4] + 2\langle 13\rangle[24] \big((k_1+k_2)\cdot\varepsilon_5 \big) .$$

$$(2.28)$$

This five-point amplitude is an interesting example of the interplay between the colorkinematics duality with fundamental particles and the (generalized) gauge invariance. Note that the appearance of the kinematical Lie algebra identities is correlated with the fact that the five-point numerators are allowed to be gauge dependent. We can see this by parameterizing the polarization vectors with a reference momentum q^{μ} . If we specialize to the case of the plus-helicity gluon, so that $\varepsilon_{k+}^{\mu} = \langle q | \gamma^{\mu} | k] / (\sqrt{2} \langle q k \rangle)$, we obtain

$$n_1 = -\langle 13 \rangle [24] \frac{\langle q|1|5]}{\langle q5 \rangle}, \qquad (2.29a)$$

$$n_2 = \langle 13 \rangle \left([24] \frac{\langle q|2|5]}{\langle q5 \rangle} + [25] [54] \right), \qquad (2.29b)$$

$$n_3 = -\langle 13 \rangle [24] \frac{\langle q|3|5]}{\langle q5 \rangle} , \qquad (2.29c)$$

$$n_4 = \langle 13 \rangle \left([24] \frac{\langle q|4|5]}{\langle q5 \rangle} - [25] [54] \right), \qquad (2.29d)$$

$$n_5 = -n_1 + n_2 = n_3 - n_4 \,. \tag{2.29e}$$

These numerators explicitly carry a nontrivial dependence on q^{μ} .

Note that if all four quarks had the same flavor, $q\bar{q}q\bar{q}g$, as in section 2.2.1, we would have to include five more diagrams with fermion lines stretching between 4⁺ and 1⁻ and between 2⁺ and 3⁻. Not surprisingly, they can be obtained from the diagrams in eq. (2.26) by relabeling 1 \leftrightarrow 3. However, by the two-term identity (figure 3), four of these numerators can be directly identified with those in eq. (2.29):

$$n_{6} \equiv -n_{1} |_{1 \leftrightarrow 3} = n_{3} ,$$

$$n_{7} \equiv -n_{2} |_{1 \leftrightarrow 3} = n_{2} ,$$

$$n_{8} \equiv -n_{3} |_{1 \leftrightarrow 3} = n_{1} ,$$

$$n_{9} \equiv -n_{4} |_{1 \leftrightarrow 3} = n_{4} ,$$

$$n_{10} \equiv -n_{5} |_{1 \leftrightarrow 3} ,$$
(2.30)

where the negative signs come from swapping the fermions $1 \leftrightarrow 3$. By combining the Lie algebra identities and the two-term identities, one can then also express n_{10} in terms of the previously given numerators, $n_{10} = -n_3 + n_2 = n_1 - n_4$.

Now, let us construct gravity amplitudes. As before, we can easily construct a fourphoton one-graviton amplitude

$$M_5^{\text{tree}}(1_\gamma^-, 2_\gamma^+, 3_\gamma^-, 4_\gamma^+, 5_h^{++}) = -i \sum_{i=1}^{10} \frac{n_i^2}{D_i}, \qquad (2.31)$$

as well as a four-scalar one-graviton amplitude

$$M_5^{\text{tree}}(1_{\varphi}^{-+}, 2_{\varphi}^{+-}, 3_{\varphi}^{-+}, 4_{\varphi}^{+-}, 5_h^{++}) = -i \sum_{i=1}^{10} \frac{n_i \overline{n}_i}{D_i}.$$
 (2.32)

Moreover, one can verify that, in analogy with eqs. (2.21) and (2.23), taking just the five first diagrams (2.26) results in the gauge-invariant amplitude that corresponds to gravitational interactions of two distinguishable scalars:

$$M_5^{\text{tree}}(1_{\varphi}^{-+}, 2_{\varphi}^{+-}, 3_{\varphi'}^{-+}, 4_{\varphi'}^{+-}, 5_h^{++}) = -i \sum_{i=1}^5 \frac{n_i \overline{n}_i}{D_i}.$$
 (2.33)

The same procedure can be done for the photon amplitude (2.31).

At five points, the number of distinct matter particles is still quite small, so we can reproduce the above amplitudes by applying the KLT relation [39] in different ways:

$$M_5^{\text{tree}}(1,2,3,4,5) = i \left(s_{12} s_{34} A_5^{\text{tree}}(1,2,3,4,5) A_5^{\text{tree}}(2,1,4,3,5) + s_{13} s_{24} A_5^{\text{tree}}(1,3,2,4,5) A_5^{\text{tree}}(3,1,4,2,5) \right).$$

$$(2.34)$$

Using this formula, one can easily check that eqs. (2.31), (2.32) and (2.33) are indeed true.

Having considered these explicit tree-level examples of the color-kinematics duality for fundamental matter, we can now proceed to discussing formal aspects of how we treat supersymmetric YM theories with fundamental matter multiplets.

2.3 On-shell spectrum and supermultiplets

The goal of this section is to package on-shell states of SYM theories into their supermultiplets: a vector multiplet $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}}$, as well as a chiral $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}}$ and an antichiral $\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}}$ matter multiplet. They respectively belong to the adjoint, fundamental and antifundamental representations of the gauge group.

From now on, we use the same letters for on-shell states and their fields, e.g., A^{\pm} for the helicity states of gluons. Moreover, we denote on-shell Weyl fermions by λ^{\pm} or ψ^{\pm} , depending on whether they belong to a vector or a matter multiplet, respectively. Similarly, the vector-multiplet scalars are denoted by φ and the matter-multiplet ones by ϕ .

Perhaps the best starting point for understanding the spectrum of massless gauge theories is the on-shell supermultiplet of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM [47, 48]. Using standard auxiliary Grassmann variables η^A , this vector multiplet can be expressed as a super-wave function

$$V_{\mathcal{N}=4} = A^{+} + \lambda_{A}^{+} \eta^{A} + \frac{1}{2} \varphi_{AB} \eta^{A} \eta^{B} + \frac{1}{3!} \epsilon_{ABCD} \lambda_{-}^{A} \eta^{B} \eta^{C} \eta^{D} + A_{-} \eta^{1} \eta^{2} \eta^{3} \eta^{4}, \qquad (2.35)$$

where the R-symmetry indices transform in the fundamental representation of SU(4), and ϵ_{ABCD} is the Levi-Civita tensor. The $\mathcal{N} = 4$ vector multiplet is by necessity non-chiral in contrast with the lower supersymmetry cases. Nevertheless, lower supersymmetric multiplets are direct truncations of this one.

The on-shell vector multiplets for reduced supersymmetry are divided into a chiral multiplet $V_{\mathcal{N}}$ and an antichiral one $\overline{V}_{\mathcal{N}}$. For $\mathcal{N} = 2, 1, 0$ they are explicitly:

$$V_{\mathcal{N}=2} = A^{+} + \lambda_{A}^{+} \eta^{A} + \varphi_{12} \eta^{1} \eta^{2}, \qquad \overline{V}_{\mathcal{N}=2} = \overline{\varphi}^{12} + \epsilon_{AB} \lambda_{-}^{A} \eta^{B} + A_{-} \eta^{1} \eta^{2},$$

$$V_{\mathcal{N}=1} = A^{+} + \lambda^{+} \eta^{1}, \qquad \overline{V}_{\mathcal{N}=1} = \lambda_{-} + A_{-} \eta^{1}, \qquad (2.36)$$

$$V_{\mathcal{N}=0} = A^{+}, \qquad \overline{V}_{\mathcal{N}=0} = A_{-},$$

where SU(2) indices A, B = 1, 2 are inherited from SU(4) R-symmetry and are raised and lowered using ϵ_{AB} . We find it convenient to assemble these chiral vector multiplets into a single non-chiral multiplet

$$\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}} = V_{\mathcal{N}} + \overline{V}_{\mathcal{N}} \theta \,, \tag{2.37}$$

where we introduced an auxiliary parameter θ defined as

$$\theta = \prod_{A=\mathcal{N}+1}^{4} \eta^A.$$
(2.38)

It is nilpotent, $\theta^2 = 0$, and commuting or anticommuting for an even or odd number of supersymmetries, respectively.

While the non-chiral multiplets (2.37) do not increase the supersymmetry with respect to their chiral constituents, they do make it possible for a more uniform treatment of the components of the $\mathcal{N} = 2, 1, 0$ scattering amplitudes by assembling its full state dependence into a single generating function $A(k_i, \eta_i^A, \theta_i)$. For example, the *m*-point MHV tree amplitude in $\mathcal{N} < 4$ SYM theories can be written as

$$A_m^{\text{MHV,tree}}(k_i, \eta_i^A, \theta_i) = i \frac{\delta^{(2\mathcal{N})}(Q) \sum_{i < j}^m \theta_i \theta_j \langle i j \rangle^{4-\mathcal{N}}}{\langle 1 2 \rangle \langle 3 4 \rangle \dots \langle m 1 \rangle}, \qquad (2.39)$$

where θ 's mark the external legs that belong to the $\overline{V}_{\mathcal{N}}$ multiplet and η 's encode the on-shell supersymmetry inside both multiplets. We define the delta function of the supermomentum $Q_{\alpha}^{A} = \sum_{i} |i\rangle_{\alpha} \eta_{i}^{A}$ as

$$\delta^{(2\mathcal{N})}(Q) = (-1)^{\lceil \mathcal{N}/2 \rceil} \prod_{A=1}^{\mathcal{N}} \sum_{i < j}^{m} \eta_i^A \langle i j \rangle \eta_j^A, \qquad (2.40)$$

where a sign factor is included so that the gluon components in eq. (2.39) have standard normalizations in the $\mathcal{N} = 1, 2$ cases.

All vector multiplets discussed so far, whether chiral or non-chiral, belong to the adjoint representation of the gauge group. For the matter content, on the other hand, one can choose between the adjoint, fundamental or antifundamental representations. The last two choices naturally define the chiral matter multiplet $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}}$ and the antichiral one $\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}}$. For

Field	+1	$+\frac{1}{2}$	0	$-\frac{1}{2}$	-1	Field	$+\frac{1}{2}$	0	$-\frac{1}{2}$	Field	$+\frac{1}{2}$	0	$-\frac{1}{2}$
$V_{\mathcal{N}=4}$	1	4	6	4	1	$\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}$	1	2	1	$\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=2}$	1	2	1
$\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=2}$	1	2	2	2	1	$\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=1}$	1	1	0	$\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=1}$	0	1	1
$\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=1}$	1	1	0	1	1	$\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=0}$	1	0	0	$\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=0}$	0	0	1
$\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=0}$	1	0	0	0	1	$\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=0}^{\text{scalar}}$	0	1	0	$\Phi^{adj}_{\mathcal{N}=2}$	1	2	1

Table 1. Summary of the particle and helicity content of the various on-shell YM supermultiplets considered in this paper.

 $\mathcal{N} = 2, 1$ they are explicitly

$$(\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2})_{i} = \psi_{i}^{+} + \phi_{Ai}\eta^{A} + \psi_{i}^{-}\eta^{1}\eta^{2}, \qquad (\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=2})_{\bar{\imath}} = \psi_{\bar{\imath}}^{+} + \epsilon_{AB}\,\overline{\phi}_{\bar{\imath}}^{A}\eta^{B} + \psi_{\bar{\imath}}^{-}\eta^{1}\eta^{2}, (\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=1})_{i} = \psi_{i}^{+} + \phi_{i}\,\eta^{1}, \qquad (\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=1})_{\bar{\imath}} = \overline{\phi}_{\bar{\imath}} + \psi_{\bar{\imath}}^{-}\eta^{1}.$$

$$(2.41)$$

Note that although the two $\mathcal{N} = 2$ matter multiplets have similar states, they are distinct and belong to different group representations, as emphasized by the explicit color indices.

Non-supersymmetric matter can either be a chiral Weyl fermion or a complex scalar:

$$(\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=0})_{i} \equiv (\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=0}^{\text{fermion}})_{i} = \psi_{i}^{+}, \qquad (\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=0})_{\overline{\imath}} \equiv (\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=0}^{\text{fermion}})_{\overline{\imath}} = \psi_{\overline{\imath}}^{-}, (\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=0}^{\text{scalar}})_{i} = \phi_{i}, \qquad (\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=0}^{\text{scalar}})_{\overline{\imath}} = \overline{\phi}_{\overline{\imath}}.$$

$$(2.42)$$

We take Weyl fermions to be the default $\mathcal{N} = 0$ matter multiplets. With this choice, the formalism for constructing pure supergravities will be uniform for any value of \mathcal{N} .

For completeness and for later use, we remark that if the chiral and antichiral $\mathcal{N} = 1$ multiplets (2.41) are put in the adjoint representation of the gauge group (or any real representation) it is convenient to combine them into a non-chiral minimal $\mathcal{N} = 2$ multiplet.⁶ After relabeling the scalar fields, we have

$$\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=1} + \overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=1} \eta^2 \quad \to \quad \Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}^{\mathrm{adj}} = \psi^+ + \phi_A \eta^A + \psi^- \eta^1 \eta^2.$$
(2.43)

Likewise, the non-supersymmetric chiral fermion matter can be promoted to a Majorana fermion, and the fundamental complex scalar becomes equivalent to two real scalars, all in the adjoint representation.

Finally, in table 1 we collect the particle and helicity content of all discussed YM supermultiplets. The explicit interactions of the fundamental multiplets are summarized in appendix A.

3 Construction of pure gravity theories

In this section, we address the problem of constructing pure (super-)gravity theories with $\mathcal{N} < 4$ supersymmetry. Such theories are "non-factorizable", meaning that their loop amplitudes cannot be constructed by squaring, or double copying, numerators of pure (super-)Yang-Mills theories. However, remarkably, pure gravity amplitudes can be obtained from non-pure YM theory, as we show next.

⁶Indeed, this matter multiplet is often called " $\mathcal{N} = 1$ chiral" in the literature on scattering amplitudes. To avoid confusion with the fundamental chiral multiplets, here we prefer to call it " $\mathcal{N} = 2$ adjoint". Furthermore, for simplicity, we choose to not use the word "hypermultiplet".

SUGRA	tensoring vector states	$ghosts = matter \otimes matter$
$\mathcal{N} = 0 + 0$	$A^{\mu}\otimes A^{\nu}=h^{\mu u}\oplus\phi\oplus a$	$(\psi^+ \otimes \psi^-) \oplus (\psi^- \otimes \psi^+) = \phi \oplus a$
$\mathcal{N} = 1 + 0$	$\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=1} \otimes A^{\mu} = H_{\mathcal{N}=1} \oplus \Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}$	$(\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=1}\otimes\psi^{-})\oplus(\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=1}\otimes\psi^{+})=\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}$
$\mathcal{N} = 2 + 0$	$\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=2}\otimes A^{\mu}=H_{\mathcal{N}=2}\oplus\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=2}$	$(\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}\otimes\psi^{-})\oplus(\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=2}\otimes\psi^{+})=\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=2}$
$\mathcal{N} = 1 + 1$	$\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=1} \otimes \mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=1} = H_{\mathcal{N}=2} \oplus 2\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}$	$(\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=1}\otimes\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=1})\oplus(\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=1}\otimes\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=1})=2\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}$
$\mathcal{N} = 2 + 1$	$\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=2}\otimes\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=1}=H_{\mathcal{N}=3}\oplus\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=4}$	$(\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}\otimes\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=1})\oplus(\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=2}\otimes\Phi^+_{\mathcal{N}=1})=\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=4}$
$\mathcal{N} = 2 + 2$	$\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=2} \otimes \mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=2} = H_{\mathcal{N}=4} \oplus 2\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=4}$	$(\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}\otimes\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=2})\oplus(\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=2}\otimes\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2})=2\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=4}$

Table 2. Pure gravities are constructed from states that are double copies of pure SYM vectors, and similarly ghosts from matter-antimatter double copies. For compactness, pairs of chiral vectors, or pairs of chiral matter multiplets, are combined into non-chiral real multiplets. The $\mathcal{N} = 2 + 0$ and $\mathcal{N} = 1 + 1$ cases should give alternative constructions of the same pure $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity.

3.1 Double copies of physical states

We define the following tensor products of the adjoint and fundamental on-shell states in SYM theories with \mathcal{N} - and \mathcal{M} -extended supersymmetry:

factorizable graviton multiplet : $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}} \equiv \mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}} \otimes \mathcal{V}'_{\mathcal{M}}$, (3.1a)

gravity matter:
$$X_{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}} \equiv \Phi_{\mathcal{N}} \otimes \overline{\Phi}'_{\mathcal{M}}$$
, (3.1b)

gravity antimatter: $\overline{X}_{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}} \equiv \overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}} \otimes \Phi'_{\mathcal{M}}$, (3.1c)

where we take $0 \leq \mathcal{N} \leq 2$ and $0 \leq \mathcal{M} \leq 2$, so that $X_{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}}$ is either a vector multiplet $V_{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}}$, or a lower-spin matter multiplet $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}}$. These are the states that naturally appear in the double copies of amplitudes that obey the color-kinematics duality for adjoint and fundamental particles.

The factorizable graviton multiplet (3.1a), naturally obtained in the adjoint double copy (2.16), is characteristic of some supergravity theory, but it is not the spectrum of a pure supergravity theory. Indeed, \mathcal{H} is reducible into the (non-chiral) pure graviton multiplet H and a (chiral) complex matter multiplet X:

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}} \equiv \mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}} \otimes \mathcal{V}'_{\mathcal{M}} = H_{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}} \oplus X_{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}} \oplus \overline{X}_{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}} \,. \tag{3.2}$$

For example, in the bosonic case the double copy reduces to the graviton, dilaton and axion: $A^{\mu} \otimes A^{\nu} = h^{\mu\nu} \oplus \varphi^{+-} \oplus \varphi^{-+}$ with $\varphi \sim \phi + ia$. This and other cases are explicitly listed in table 2. While this reduction is easy to carry out for the on-shell asymptotic states, the same is not true for the off-shell internal states that are obtained from the double-copy construction (2.16). The reason is that the double copies of gluons $A^{\mu} \otimes A^{\nu}$ are difficult to decompose since amplitudes have no free Lorentz indices, or, alternatively, reducing the product using little-group indices would break Lorentz invariance of the off-shell states.

Instead, we propose to use the fact that multiplets X and \overline{X} appear not only in the product (3.2) of the adjoint vectors but also as the fundamental matter double copy in eqs. (3.1b) and (3.1c). This will let us take the factorizable graviton multiplet \mathcal{H} and mod

out by X and \overline{X} . To do that, we will promote the matter double copies X and \overline{X} to be ghosts, i.e. opposite-statistics states.⁷

First of all, let us do some simple counting of the on-shell degrees of freedoms to show that it is indeed the same X, \overline{X} that appear in eqs. (3.1) and (3.2). For this, we add the bosonic and fermionic counts of states in the multiplets. To start with, note that all minimal (chiral) supermultiplets with \mathcal{N} -extended supersymmetry have exactly $2^{\mathcal{N}}$ states (e.g. see eqs. (2.36) and (2.41)) in four dimensions. Therefore, non-chiral pure vector and graviton multiplets have twice as many states, $2^{\mathcal{N}+1}$, except for the maximallysupersymmetric multiplets that we do not consider here. For example, pure YM theory and Einstein gravity both have $\mathcal{N} = 0$, so they both contain $2^{0+1} = 2$ physical states: the two on-shell gluons or gravitons. For this bosonic case, eq. (3.2) becomes

$$4 = 2 \otimes 2 = 2 \oplus 1 \oplus 1, \qquad (3.3)$$

where the right-hand side represents the two gravitons, dilaton and axion, or rather the mixed dilaton-axion states φ^{+-} and φ^{-+} introduced in section 2.2.1. In that picture, X can be thought of as $\varphi^{+-} = A^+ \otimes A^-$. For a general $0 \leq \mathcal{N}, \mathcal{M} \leq 2$ supersymmetric theory, eq. (3.2) becomes

$$2^{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}+2} = 2^{\mathcal{N}+1} \otimes 2^{\mathcal{M}+1} = 2^{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}+1} \oplus 2^{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}} \oplus 2^{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}}.$$
(3.4)

Indeed, the right-hand side represents the pure graviton multiplet in $\mathcal{N} + \mathcal{M}$ supergravity plus two minimal (chiral) matter multiplets in the same theory. Clearly, the matter multiplet X defined in eq. (3.1b) has the same state counting,

$$2^{\mathcal{N}+\mathcal{M}} = 2^{\mathcal{N}} \otimes 2^{\mathcal{M}},\tag{3.5}$$

and similarly for \overline{X} . In the bosonic case, we have $1 = 1 \otimes 1$, which now implies that $X = \varphi^{+-} = \psi^+ \otimes \psi^-$, where ψ^+ , ψ^- are on-shell Weyl fermions.

In this way, we have shown that simple counting is consistent with our recipe for obtaining the pure graviton multiplet H from $\mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{V}'$ by modding out by $\Phi \otimes \overline{\Phi}'$ and $\overline{\Phi} \otimes \Phi'$.

3.2 Numerator double copies

In section 2, we considered (super-)Yang-Mills theories where adjoint and fundamental color representations are dual to vector and matter multiplets, respectively, in the sense that the kinematic structure of the amplitudes is governed by the adjoint and fundamental color-kinematics duality. In section 3.1, we explained how the on-shell SYM states can be tensored to obtain the on-shell spectrum of pure supergravities, including Einstein gravity. To obtain gravity amplitudes, we now have to do the same double-copy construction for the interacting theories with internal off-shell states.

Pure (super-)gravity amplitudes are obtained by recycling the cubic diagrams (2.1) of the YM theory and constructing the proper double copies of the kinematic numerators,

⁷This is superficially similar to the Faddeev-Popov method [49] that removes the unphysical YM states from propagating in loops, although the details are quite different.

similarly to eq. (2.16). The numerator double copies should be constructed so that internal adjoint lines in gauge theory become an off-shell equivalent of $\mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{V}'$ lines in gravity. And similarly, fundamental and antifundamental gauge-theory lines become gravitational lines that are off-shell continuations of $\Phi \otimes \overline{\Phi}'$ and $\overline{\Phi} \otimes \Phi'$, respectively. That is, the numerator copies should *not* be taken between diagrams that produce cross terms between the vector and matter internal lines. Such double copies would in general not be consistent since the kinematic algebra is different for the two types of states.

In fact, the above double-copy structure is already present in YM theory. By definition, since eq. (2.1) describes gauge-theory amplitudes, there are no products of numerators and color factors, $n_i c_i$, involving cross-terms between internal vector kinematic lines and fundamental color lines. Thus the transition from YM to gravity amplitudes should be as straightforward as replacing the color factors with kinematic numerators. For example, replacing $c_i \to n'_i$ in eq. (2.1) would give valid gravity amplitudes, albeit with undesired matter content given by $\Phi \otimes \Phi'$ and $\overline{\Phi} \otimes \overline{\Phi}'$. To get matter states such as $\Phi \otimes \overline{\Phi}'$, we can instead let $c_i \to \overline{n}'_i$, where the bar operation swaps matter and antimatter. However, that would give gravity amplitudes with extra physical matter. Since we are trying to remove the matter already present in the decomposition of $\mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{V}'$, what we want is matter that behaves as ghosts. This means that we should insert a minus sign for each closed loop of matter particles. Hence we do the following replacement in eq. (2.1),

$$c_i \to (-1)^{|i|} \overline{n}'_i \tag{3.6}$$

where |i| counts the number of closed matter loops in the *i*'th trivalent graph. More generally, we can do the replacement $c_i \to (N_X)^{|i|} \overline{n}'_i$, where $N_X + 1$ is the number of complex matter multiplets in the desired gravity theory.

Thus we propose the following formula for amplitudes in pure (super-)gravity:

$$\mathcal{M}_{m}^{L\text{-loop}} = i^{L-1} \left(\frac{\kappa}{2}\right)^{m+2L-2} \sum_{i} \int \frac{d^{LD}\ell}{(2\pi)^{DL}} \frac{(-1)^{|i|}}{S_{i}} \frac{n_{i}\overline{n}_{i}'}{D_{i}}, \qquad (3.7)$$

where the sum runs over all *m*-point *L*-loop graphs with trivalent vertices of two kinds: (fact. grav., fact. grav., fact. grav.) and (fact. grav., matter, antimatter), corresponding to particle lines of two types: factorizable graviton multiplets and matter ghosts. The graphs are in one-to-one correspondence with the ones in the gauge-theory amplitude (2.1), and the denominators D_i and the symmetry factors S_i are same. The objects n_i and n'_i are the numerators of two gauge-theory amplitudes where at least one of the two copies obeys the color-kinematics duality. The bar on top of one of the numerators denotes the operation of conjugating the matter particles and reversing the fundamental-representation flows. Finally, the contribution of each graph enters the sum with a sign determined by the number of closed matter-ghost loops |i|.

When there are no fundamental lines in the diagram, both the matter conjugation the sign-modifying factor act trivially, so eliminating all graphs with matter ghosts reduces eq. (3.7) to the adjoint double copy (2.16).

3.3 Gauge invariance of the gravity construction

Now let us show that the double-copy construction (3.7) for pure gravity amplitudes obeys generalized gauge invariance. This means that the freedom to shift numerators in gauge theory should correspond to a similar freedom in shifting one copy of the gravity numerators. If this was not true, the result of the double copy would depend on the gauge chosen for the YM amplitude computation, and thus necessarily be wrong. Moreover, while it is not obvious, experience tells us that the notion of generalized gauge invariance is perhaps as useful and constraining for amplitudes as the more familiar notion of gauge invariance is for Lagrangians. Therefore, showing that the gravity construction is generalized-gaugeinvariant is a strong check of consistency.

Recall that the generalized gauge invariance in YM theory allows us to freely shift $n_i \rightarrow n_i + \Delta_i$ provided that Δ_i satisfy

$$\sum_{i} \int \frac{d^{LD}\ell}{(2\pi)^{DL}} \frac{1}{S_i} \frac{\Delta_i c_i}{D_i} = 0.$$
 (3.8)

The origin of this freedom comes from the overcompleteness of the color factor basis. Indeed, the Jacobi identities and commutation relations satisfied by the color factors can indirectly enter the amplitude multiplied by arbitrary kinematic functions, which we may refer to as pure gauge terms. For example, consider a shift of the numerators n_i , n_j and n_k of three diagrams with identical graph structure except for a single edge:

$$\mathcal{A}_{m}^{L\text{-loop}} \to \mathcal{A}_{m}^{L\text{-loop}} + \int K_{\text{pure gauge}} \left(\tilde{f}^{dac} \tilde{f}^{cbe} - \tilde{f}^{dbc} \tilde{f}^{cae} - \tilde{f}^{abc} \tilde{f}^{dce} \right) c_{\text{rest}}^{abde} , \qquad (3.9a)$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{m}^{L\text{-loop}} \to \mathcal{A}_{m}^{L\text{-loop}} + \int K_{\text{pure gauge}} \left(T_{i\bar{j}}^{a} T_{j\bar{k}}^{b} - T_{i\bar{j}}^{b} T_{j\bar{k}}^{a} - \tilde{f}^{abc} T_{i\bar{k}}^{c} \right) c_{k\bar{\imath},\text{rest}}^{ab} \,, \tag{3.9b}$$

where the standard loop integration measure is suppressed for brevity. Taking into account that the symmetry factors and denominators are included into $K_{\text{pure gauge}}$, the three numerators will be shifted by

$$\Delta_i = S_i D_i K_{\text{pure gauge}}, \qquad \Delta_j = S_j D_j K_{\text{pure gauge}}, \qquad \Delta_k = S_k D_k K_{\text{pure gauge}}. \tag{3.10}$$

Of course, $K_{\text{pure gauge}}$ is multiplied here by something that vanishes due to the color algebra (2.3), so the amplitude cannot depend on it.

Translating this example to gravity through the replacement $c_i \to (-1)^{|i|} \overline{n}'_i$, we obtain⁸

$$M_m^{L\text{-loop}} \to M_m^{L\text{-loop}} + (-1)^{|i|} \int K_{\text{pure gauge}} \left(\overline{n}'_i - \overline{n}'_j - \overline{n}'_k \right).$$
(3.11)

The crucial point here is that the commutation and Jacobi relations in figure 1 leave the number of closed fundamental matter loops invariant, so in eq. (3.11) we safely set |i| = |j| = |k|. For the gravitational amplitude (3.11) to be free of the pure gauge redundancy, the numerators \overline{n}'_i must satisfy the color-dual algebra: $\overline{n}'_i - \overline{n}'_j = \overline{n}'_k$.

⁸This argument trivially extends to the more general replacement prescription $c_i \to (N_X)^{|i|} \overline{n}'_i$.



Figure 6. Two-loop cuts of the four-graviton amplitude that can have ghost matter circulating in only a single loop at the time.

In summary, shifting the gauge-theory numerators $n_i \to n_i + \Delta_i$ gives new gravity numerators $n_i \overline{n}'_i \to (n_i + \Delta_i) \overline{n}'_i$. If \overline{n}_i satisfy the same algebraic relations as the color factors c_i , then we are guaranteed to leave the gravity amplitude invariant, since it inherits the YM identity (2.15) in the form

$$\sum_{i} \int \frac{d^{LD}\ell}{(2\pi)^{DL}} \frac{1}{S_i} \frac{\Delta_i \overline{n}'_i}{D_i} = 0.$$
(3.12)

As in the purely-adjoint case [19], this argument can be easily extended to show that, to obtain a consistent double-copy amplitude, it is sufficient for only one of the two numerator sets $(n_i \text{ or } \overline{n}'_i)$ to satisfy the color-kinematics duality,

From this line of arguments, one can also see that the additional two-term algebraic identity (2.13), depicted in figure 3, is optional. It is not needed for obtaining generalizedgauge-invariant amplitudes since the corresponding color identity is not generically present for fundamental representations of, say, SU(N). In fact, in those spacetime dimensions where the two-term identity (2.13) can be imposed, the double-copy gravity amplitudes stay the same with or without imposing it. Indeed, one can think of the identity (2.13) as a special gauge choice in YM theory, hence the gravity amplitudes cannot depend on this choice. We have also confirmed this property by constructing explicit tree-level amplitudes through seven points.

3.4 Checks of two-loop cuts

In this section, we consider an explicit multiloop example that provides a nontrivial check that the double-copy prescription (3.7) correctly eliminates the dilaton and axion contributions from the unitarity cuts in Einstein gravity. We concentrate on two-loop cuts in four dimensions; the one-loop case will be treated in full rigor in subsequent sections with complete four-point calculations in $D = 4 - 2\epsilon$ dimensions. For the construction of the two-loop four-point amplitude it is sufficient to consider three types of unitarity cuts: the two shown in figure 6 and the first diagram shown in figure 7. For the purpose of checking the cancellation of dilaton and axion contributions the latter cut is the most nontrivial. The two cuts in figure 6 can only have matter circulating in a single sub-loop at the time, so they can at most teach us about the dilaton-axion cancelations that take place in one-loop amplitudes, the topic of the following sections.



Figure 7. A two-loop cut of the four-graviton amplitude. A particular internal helicity configuration is expanded using the diagrammatic rules given in figure 8. In the text, we explain that these dilaton-axion contributions cancel among themselves, leaving the pure gravity cut.

h	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	=	- $000000000 + 000000000 +$
φ		=	$- \underbrace{00000000}_{+} + \underbrace{00000000}_{-} +$
φ'	••••••	=	- $+$ $+$ $-$

Figure 8. Diagrammatic rules for the gravity cut lines in figure 7: graviton lines correspond to double copies of gluon lines, whereas mixed dilaton-axion lines can be realized either in the same way or as fundamental double copies of fermions.

Now, consider the double s-channel cut of the four-graviton two-loop amplitude. To be explicit, consider the external configuration $M(1_h^{--}, 2_h^{++}, 3_h^{--}, 4_h^{++})$, and focus only on the internal-matter contributions as shown in figure 7. If the theory is pure, these matter contributions should add up to zero. As shown, the cut has an expansion in terms of different particle and diagram contributions coming from our prescription. In order to not clutter the diagrams with explicit double-line notation that reflect the tensor structure of the gravity states, we use the particle-line notation given in figure 8. As explained in section 2.2.1, the complexified dilaton-axion contributions arise as double copies of gluons with anticorrelated helicities, gravitons from double copies of correlated gluons, and matter ghosts from anticorrelated fermions (quarks).

The diagrammatic expansion in figure 7 is straightforward, except for the special treatment of the opposite-statistics nature of the ghosts. In particular, in the last two diagrams the intermediate graviton channel needs to be resolved before the sign of the diagram can be determined due to the different number of ghost loops.

To calculate the result of the cut, we can take advantage of a convenient simplification. If we focus for a moment on the leftmost and rightmost four-point tree amplitudes (outer blobs) appearing in the factorization of the cut, we see that they are in fact identical for all the five contributions in figure 7. They are explicitly

$$\begin{split} M_4^{\text{tree}} \left(1_h^{--}, 2_h^{++}, (-\ell_2)_{\varphi}^{-+}, (-\ell_1)_{\varphi}^{+-} \right) &= M_4^{\text{tree}} \left(1_h^{--}, 2_h^{++}, (-\ell_2)_{\varphi'}^{-+}, (-\ell_1)_{\varphi'}^{+-} \right) \\ &= \frac{i \langle 1 | \ell_1 | 2]^4}{s (k_1 - \ell_1)^2 (k_1 - \ell_2)^2} , \end{split}$$
(3.13a)
$$M_4^{\text{tree}} \left(3_h^{--}, 4_h^{++}, (-\ell_4)_{\varphi}^{+-}, (-\ell_3)_{\varphi}^{-+} \right) &= M_4^{\text{tree}} \left(3_h^{--}, 4_h^{++}, (-\ell_4)_{\varphi'}^{+-}, (-\ell_3)_{\varphi'}^{-+} \right) \\ &= \frac{i \langle 3 | \ell_3 | 4]^4}{s (k_3 - \ell_3)^2 (k_3 - \ell_4)^2} , \end{split}$$
(3.13b)

where φ denote the complexified dilaton-axion states arising from gluon double copies, and φ' are the fundamental fermion double copies. These amplitudes contribute to the cut in figure 7 as an overall factor, and thus we may ignore them and only check the cancellation among the five terms associated with the gravity tree amplitudes in the middle blobs. Conveniently, we already have all the ingredients at hand, from the results of section 2.2.1. The first term is $M_4^{\text{tree}}(\ell_{1\varphi}^{-+}, \ell_{2\varphi}^{-+}, \ell_{3\varphi}^{-+}, \ell_{4\varphi}^{+-})$, and the second and third terms are identical:

$$-M_4^{\text{tree}}(\ell_{1\,\varphi'}^{-+},\ell_{2\,\varphi'}^{+-},\ell_{3\,\varphi}^{-+},\ell_{4\,\varphi}^{+-}) = -M_4^{\text{tree}}(\ell_{1\,\varphi}^{-+},\ell_{2\,\varphi}^{+-},\ell_{3\,\varphi'}^{-+},\ell_{4\,\varphi'}^{+-}).$$
(3.14)

For the fourth and fifth terms we recycle the numerators n_s and n_t from eq. (2.17), with $k_i \rightarrow l_i$. Therefore, we get the following sum for the internal-matter cut:

$$M_{4}^{\text{tree}}(\ell_{1\varphi}^{-+}, \ell_{2\varphi}^{+-}, \ell_{3\varphi}^{-+}, \ell_{4\varphi}^{+-}) - 2M_{4}^{\text{tree}}(\ell_{1\varphi}^{-+}, \ell_{2\varphi}^{+-}, \ell_{3\varphi'}^{-+}, \ell_{4\varphi'}^{+-}) - i\frac{n_s\overline{n}_s}{(\ell_1 + \ell_2)^2} + i\frac{n_t\overline{n}_t}{(\ell_2 + \ell_3)^2} = -i\frac{n_s\overline{n}_s}{(\ell_1 + \ell_2)^2} - i\frac{n_t\overline{n}_t}{(\ell_2 + \ell_3)^2} + 2i\frac{n_s\overline{n}_s}{(\ell_1 + \ell_2)^2} - i\frac{n_s\overline{n}_s}{(\ell_1 + \ell_2)^2} + i\frac{n_t\overline{n}_t}{(\ell_2 + \ell_3)^2} = 0,$$

$$(3.15)$$

where we used eqs. (2.22) and (2.23) to obtain zero.

Cancellations also happen among cuts where some of internal states are gravitons and some are matter states, that is, configurations such as $M_4^{\text{tree}}(l_{1h}^{++}, l_{2h}^{--}, \ell_{3\varphi}^{-+}, \ell_{4\varphi}^{+-})$ for the middle blob. These are again effectively the same type of cancelation that has to happen for one-loop amplitudes. In summary, these cancelations leave the full four-dimensional cut corresponding to figure 7 completely free of dilaton and axion contributions. This shows that our prescription (3.7) for calculating pure gravity amplitudes works correctly for this two-loop four-point example. We have repeated the same calculation (3.15) in the various supersymmetric settings listed in table 2. In all cases, the unwanted matter corresponding to X and \overline{X} multiplets cancel out.

The four-point analysis can be repeated in exactly the same way for the two-loop cut of the five-graviton amplitude $M(1_h^{--}, 2_h^{++}, 3_h^{--}, 4_h^{++}, 5_h^{++})$. Its most nontrivial cut is shown in figure 9. To analyze it, we can use the tree-level input of section 2.2.2. At five points, the cancellation analogous to eq. (3.15) takes the explicit form,

$$M_{5}^{\text{tree}}(\ell_{1\,\varphi}^{-+},\ell_{2\,\varphi}^{+-},\ell_{3\,\varphi}^{-+},\ell_{4\,\varphi}^{+-},5_{h}^{++}) - 2M_{5}^{\text{tree}}(\ell_{1\,\varphi}^{-+},\ell_{2\,\varphi}^{+-},\ell_{3\,\varphi'}^{-+},\ell_{4\,\varphi'}^{+-},5_{h}^{++}) - i\sum_{i=1}^{5}\frac{n_{i}\overline{n}_{i}}{D_{i}} + i\sum_{i=6}^{10}\frac{n_{i}\overline{n}_{i}}{D_{i}} = 0,$$

$$(3.16)$$



Figure 9. A two-loop cut of the five-graviton amplitude.

which is zero due to eqs. (2.32) and (2.33). We have also checked numerically that a similar cancellation occurs for cuts of the same topology with up to three more gravitons in the outer two blobs and up to two more gravitons in the middle blob of this cut topology.

It is interesting to note that if we try to perform similar exercises and cut checks for double copies of fundamental scalars, instead of fermions, we encounter trouble. Although the resulting ghost contributions will cancel the dilaton and axion in one-loop amplitudes, at two loops the construction fails to produce pure theories. This happens already for the cut analogous to figure 7, with fermion double copies replaced by scalar ones. In the next section, we give an indirect argument that confirms that scalar double copies are unsuitable for canceling the dilaton and axion.

3.5 General multiloop argument

In this section, we argue that our prescription cancels the dilaton and axion from fourdimensional unitarity cuts at any loop order. We expect the construction to also produce correct $(4 - 2\epsilon)$ -dimensional unitarity cuts, but since such cuts can be very subtle and regularization dependent, we give no explicit argument in that case.

For simplicity, we restrict the argument to Einstein gravity as the supersymmetric cases should be straightforward generalizations thereof. We want to show that a generic four-dimensional unitarity cut,

$$\sum_{S \text{ states}} M_{(1)}^{\text{tree}} M_{(2)}^{\text{tree}} \dots M_{(k)}^{\text{tree}}, \qquad (3.17)$$

constructed from double copies of YM diagrams according to our prescription, contains only graviton internal states.

In the bosonic case, our prescription involves the product of two copies of (YM + fund. fermion) theories, where the states are tensored according to their gauge-group representation. Let us use the fact that at tree level the states and partial amplitudes in this YM theory can be mapped to those of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SYM simply by replacing the fundamental-representation color factors with those in the adjoint (cf. eq. (2.6)). Indeed, from the works of refs. [50–54], we know that the color-stripped tree-level amplitudes of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SYM (which are a subsector of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM) can be combined to construct all the tree amplitudes in massless multiple-flavor QCD, and vice versa. Therefore, for convenience, we map the states of (YM + fund. fermion)-theory to a subsector of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM, and thus we can label the fields by the familiar SU(4) R-charge indices.

Let us look at the on-shell gravitational states that the tensor product of two copies of (YM + fund. fermion)-theory gives us according to the prescription (3.7). If we reserve the R-charge indices 1,..., 4 for the left side of the double copy and 5,..., 8 for the right side, then the we have tensor products of the gluons $(A^+ \oplus A^-_{1234}) \otimes (A^+ \oplus A^-_{5678})$, as well as of the matter states $\psi_1^+ \otimes \psi_{678}^-$ and $\psi_{234}^- \otimes \psi_5^+$, where the latter should be promoted to ghosts inside loop amplitudes. This results in the following spectrum:

$$S = \{h^+, \varphi_{1234}, \varphi_{5678}, \hat{\varphi}_{1678}, \hat{\varphi}_{2345}, h_{12345678}^-\}, \qquad (3.18)$$

where the hat notation marks the states that are treated as ghosts in the loop amplitudes.

Now let us consider the simplest possible R-charge rotation, a permutation of the indices $\mathcal{R}_{25} = \{2 \leftrightarrow 5\}$, which gives the following set of states:

$$S' = \{h^+, \varphi_{1345}, \varphi_{2678}, \hat{\varphi}_{1678}, \hat{\varphi}_{2345}, h_{12345678}^-\}.$$
(3.19)

Although we will not prove it, we claim that the gravitational tree amplitudes, and thus the unitarity cut (3.17), following from a double-copy construction should be invariant under this rotation. This can be argued because of the close relationship between the tree-level kinematical numerators of (YM + fund. fermion)-theory and those of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SYM, which in turn can be obtained from $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. If this claim is true, we can observe that the rotated spectrum S' corresponds to double copies $A^+ \otimes A^+$, $A^-_{1234} \otimes A^-_{5678}$, $(\hat{\psi}^+_1 \oplus \psi^+_2) \otimes \psi^-_{678}$ and $(\hat{\psi}_{234} \oplus \psi_{134}^-) \otimes \psi_5^+$. This can be considered to belong to a color-kinematics construction with adjoint and fundamental fields, where on one side we have (YM + fund. fermion + fund. fermion ghost) and on the other side (YM + fund. fermion). If the fundamental fields are restricted to live on internal lines of the loop amplitudes, as they are in our construction, then the amplitudes in the (YM + fund. fermion + fund. fermion ghost)-theory receives no contributions from the fermions, because they must cancel each other entirely. Since the numerators corresponding to fundamental particles vanish on one side of the double copy, the gravity amplitude receives no contributions from fermion double copies. We can then remove the scalars produced by these double copies and conclude that the spectrum S' is secretly equivalent to the pure gravity spectrum

$$S'' = \{h^+, h_{1234\,5678}^-\}.$$
(3.20)

In other words, in our prescription, the four-dimensional unitarity cuts should be equivalent to those of the pure gravity theory

$$\sum_{S \text{ states}} M_{(1)}^{\text{tree}} M_{(2)}^{\text{tree}} \dots M_{(k)}^{\text{tree}} = \sum_{S' \text{ states}} M_{(1)}^{\text{tree}} M_{(2)}^{\text{tree}} \dots M_{(k)}^{\text{tree}}$$

$$= \sum_{S'' \text{ states}} M_{(1)}^{\text{tree}} M_{(2)}^{\text{tree}} \dots M_{(k)}^{\text{tree}}.$$
(3.21)

Indeed, this is consistent with the explicit calculations in section 3.4.

Note that for the above argument to be valid, something must fail when applied to scalar double copies, since we observed that the calculations in section 3.4 do not work for

them. To see this, consider the possible scalar prescription that relies on tensor products $(A^+ \oplus A^-_{1234}) \otimes (A^+ \oplus A^-_{5678})$ and $\phi_{12} \otimes \phi_{78}$ and $\phi_{34} \otimes \phi_{56}$. This gives the following states:

$$S_{\phi} = \{h^+, \varphi_{1234}, \varphi_{5678}, \hat{\varphi}_{1278}, \hat{\varphi}_{3456}, h_{12345678}^-\}.$$
(3.22)

Now perform, for example, the rotation $\mathcal{R}_{15:26} = \{1 \leftrightarrow 7, 2 \leftrightarrow 8\}$ of the R-charge indices:

$$S'_{\phi} = \{h^+, \varphi_{3478}, \varphi_{1256}, \hat{\varphi}_{1278}, \hat{\varphi}_{3456}, h^-_{12345678}\}.$$
(3.23)

Assuming that this is a valid double-copy spectrum the resulting matter can be thought of either as $\phi_{12} \otimes (\phi_{56} \oplus \hat{\phi}_{78})$ and $\phi_{34} \otimes (\hat{\phi}_{56} \oplus \phi_{78})$, or as $(\phi_{12} \oplus \hat{\phi}_{34}) \otimes \phi_{56}$ and $(\hat{\phi}_{12} \oplus \phi_{34}) \otimes \phi_{78}$, or even as $(\hat{\phi}_{12} \oplus \phi_{34}) \otimes (\hat{\phi}_{56} \oplus \phi_{78})$. The first two cases look similar to the above fermionic situation, so we can attempt to interpret either of them as coming from a color-kinematics construction with a (YM + fund. scalar + fund. scalar ghost)-theory on one side of the double copy. However, one can check that there will be an irregular four-scalar interaction that couples the ghosts to the non-ghost scalars, preventing a complete cancellation of the matter. Needless to say, this cannot happen to fermions. The third factorization $(\hat{\phi}_{12} \oplus \phi_{34}) \otimes (\hat{\phi}_{56} \oplus \phi_{78})$ is an even stranger case, since either side appears to contain a theory with one complex scalar whose antiparticle is a ghost, which is clearly not sensible.

Of course, one can consider doing other swaps of the R-symmetry indices, but all possible permutations have similar problems. While this does not conclusively prove that the scalar double-copy prescription fails for pure gravities, it does show that the argument that worked for fermion double copies encounter obstructions when applied to scalars. In any case, the explicit cut checks in the previous section show that starting at two loops the scalar double copy fails to properly cancel the dilation and axion states.

4 One-loop four-point gauge-theory amplitudes with internal matter

In this section, we work out the duality-satisfying numerators for massless one-loop fourpoint amplitudes with four external vector-multiplet legs and internal fundamental matter running in the loop.

4.1 Reducing numerators to a master

At four points, the master diagram that determines all other one-loop topologies is the box in figure 10, whose numerator we denote as

$$n_{\text{box}}(1,2,3,4,\ell),$$
 (4.1)

where ℓ is the loop momentum and $1, \ldots, 4$ are collective labels for the momentum, helicity and particle type of the external legs. Other numerators can be obtained from the master using a set of kinematic identities that follow from the color-kinematics duality. Thanks to our conventions for the color algebra, eqs. (2.3a) and (2.3b), the dual kinematic relations for both fundamental and adjoint loop states translate to antisymmetrization of the external



Figure 10. The three graphs that contribute to one-loop four-point amplitudes. Curly lines correspond to adjoint vector multiplets and solid lines represent fundamental matter (or, in general, particles of any representation). Our convention is that the external momenta are outgoing in all graphs.

3

2

1

 $n_{\rm box}$

3

4



Figure 11. Three graphs that do not contribute to the amplitudes in dimensional regularization because they give scaleless integrals.

legs, which we denote by a commutator bracket. In this way, the triangle and the bubble numerators, shown in figure 10, are obtained from the box as

$$n_{\rm tri}(1,2,3,4,\ell) \equiv n_{\rm box}([1,2],3,4,\ell) ,$$

$$n_{\rm bub}(1,2,3,4,\ell) \equiv n_{\rm tri}(1,2,[3,4],\ell) = n_{\rm box}([1,2],[3,4],\ell) .$$
(4.2)

More explicitly, $n_{\text{tri}}(1, 2, 3, 4, \ell) = n_{\text{box}}(1, 2, 3, 4, \ell) - n_{\text{box}}(2, 1, 3, 4, \ell)$, etc. Further antisymmetrization gives the numerators of snail- and tadpole-type graphs, shown in figure 11:

$$n_{\text{snail}}(1, 2, 3, 4, \ell) \equiv n_{\text{box}}([[1, 2], 3], 4, \ell),$$

$$n_{\text{tadpole}}(1, 2, 3, 4, \ell) \equiv n_{\text{box}}([[1, 2], [3, 4]], \ell),$$

$$n_{\text{xtadpole}}(1, 2, 3, 4, \ell) \equiv n_{\text{box}}([[[1, 2], 3], 4], \ell).$$

(4.3)

Here a "snail" is synonymous to a bubble on an external leg, whereas "tadpole" and "xtadpole" stand for tadpoles on an internal leg and an external leg, respectively. These three diagrams will integrate to zero in dimensional regularization, as they will be identified with scaleless integrals.

All graphs that we considered so far have the counterclockwise orientation of the fundamental color flow. At one loop, a symmetry trick can be used to obtain the numerators with the internal-matter arrow reversed. The matter-conjugated box diagram is given by mirroring the graph, so that it is equivalent to the master box with all arguments reversed,

$$\overline{n}_{\text{box}}(1,2,3,4,\ell) = n_{\text{box}}(4,3,2,1,-\ell), \qquad (4.4)$$

and the others are obtained by conjugating eqs. (4.2) and (4.3). In section 4.3, we give an alternative definition of \overline{n}_i using the building blocks of the numerators.

In addition to the above relations, we need to constrain the numerators with the theoryspecific physical information. This is done using the unitarity method [55, 56]. Eqs. (4.2) and (4.3) together with the unitarity cuts are equivalent to imposing the color-kinematics duality through functional equations. In the absence of a direct way to obtain the dualitysatisfying numerators, we will find a solution of these equations using an ansatz for the master box numerator.

4.2 The ansatz construction

In this section, we explicitly construct a compact ansatz for the master numerator n_{box} , suitable for a wide range of four-point amplitudes of various theories (see alternative constructions in refs. [10, 28, 38, 57]).

To begin with, we list the elementary building blocks that are allowed to appear in the numerators. These include the Mandelstam invariants s, t and u, of which only two are independent, as well as the scalar products $\ell \cdot k_i$ of the loop and external momenta. Here we introduce a shorthand notation for the three independent combinations of such products that we use in the rest of the paper:

$$\ell_s \equiv 2\,\ell \cdot (k_1 + k_2) \,, \qquad \ell_t \equiv 2\,\ell \cdot (k_2 + k_3) \,, \qquad \ell_u \equiv 2\,\ell \cdot (k_1 + k_3) \,. \tag{4.5}$$

Another invariant is the Lorentz square of the loop momentum ℓ^2 . However, in dimensional regularization, we must distinguish between the four-dimensional square and the *D*-dimensional one. We choose to work with the latter and the difference between the two:

$$\mu^2 = \ell_{D=4}^2 - \ell^2, \tag{4.6}$$

which corresponds to the square of the loop-momentum component orthogonal to the fourdimensional spacetime and is positive-valued in the metric signature $(+ - \cdots -)$.

Finally, we introduce the parity-odd Levi-Civita invariant

$$\epsilon(1, 2, 3, \ell) \equiv \operatorname{Det}(k_1, k_2, k_3, \ell_{D=4}), \qquad (4.7)$$

which integrates to zero in gauge theory, but do contribute to gravity when squared in the double-copy construction (3.7).

These building blocks already make it possible to write down an ansatz for each of the distinct helicity configurations of the external states. For four external gluons, a sufficient set of configurations consists of the split-helicity case $(1^-, 2^-, 3^+, 4^+)$ and the alternating-helicity case $(1^-, 2^+, 3^-, 4^+)$. All other external-state configurations in SYM are obtainable via supersymmetric Ward identities [58–61] and permutations of labels. However, instead of using such identities we choose to rely the extended on-shell superspace formalism of section 2.3 to take care of the bookkeeping of external states. Namely, for the four-point MHV amplitude, we introduce variables

$$\kappa_{ij} = \frac{[1\,2]\,[3\,4]}{\langle 1\,2\rangle\langle 3\,4\rangle} \delta^{(2\mathcal{N})}(Q)\,\langle i\,j\rangle^{4-\mathcal{N}}\,\theta_i\theta_j\,,\tag{4.8}$$

where the auxiliary parameter θ_i mark that the external leg *i* belong to the anti-chiral vector multiplet, $\overline{V}_{\mathcal{N}}$, also containing the negative-helicity gluon. This implies that the

unmarked legs are of the chiral type $V_{\mathcal{N}}$, which contains the positive-helicity gluon. The super momentum delta function $\delta^{(2\mathcal{N})}(Q)$ ensures that the \mathcal{N} -fold supersymmetry Ward identities are respected among the components. The remaining kinematic factors guarantee that the gluonic components take on a simple familiar form

$$\kappa_{ij} = ist A_4^{\text{tree}}(\dots i^- \dots j^- \dots)(\eta_i^1 \eta_i^2 \eta_i^3 \eta_i^4)(\eta_j^1 \eta_j^2 \eta_j^3 \eta_j^4) + \dots$$
(4.9)

For example, the pure-gluon component of κ_{12} is explicitly $\langle 1 2 \rangle^2 [3 4]^2$ using the spinorhelicity variables. Thus, for a given graph topology we can ignore the helicity labels and instead work with a single generating function, spanned by the six independent κ_{ij} that encode all the component numerators.

Now we can write down an ansatz for the master numerator of a superamplitude with external vector multiplets and any type of internal massless particles,

$$n_{\text{box}}(1,2,3,4,\ell) = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le 4} \frac{\kappa_{ij}}{s_{ij}^N} \left(\sum_k a_{ij;k} M_k^{(N)} + i\epsilon(1,2,3,\ell) \sum_k \tilde{a}_{ij;k} M_k^{(N-2)} \right), \quad (4.10)$$

where $a_{ij;k}$ and $\tilde{a}_{ij;k}$ are free parameters of the ansatz, $s_{ij} \equiv (k_i + k_j)^2$ are the Mandelstam invariants, and $M_k^{(N)}$ denotes a monomial of dimension 2N built out of N products of quadratic Lorentz invariants. The monomials are drawn from the following set:

$$M^{(N)} = \left\{ \prod_{i=1}^{N} m_i \, \Big| \, m_i \in \{s, t, \ell_s, \ell_t, \ell_u, \ell^2, \mu^2\} \right\},\tag{4.11}$$

which contains C_{N+6}^6 distinct elements, C_n^k being the binomial numbers. Hence the ansatz have $6(C_{N+6}^6 + C_{N+4}^6)$ free coefficients in total. We vary the parameter N in eq. (4.10) depending on the effective number of supersymmetries \mathcal{N}_{eff} of the amplitude, such that

$$N = 4 - \mathcal{N}_{\text{eff}} \,, \tag{4.12}$$

which is in accord with the classic loop-momentum power-counting argument of ref. [56] and the ansatz rules for color-kinematics numerators of ref. [4].

As a simple and illuminating example that the ansatz (4.10) is finely tuned to the correct answer, we can consider the case of $\mathcal{N} = 3$ SYM, which is equivalent to $\mathcal{N}_{\text{eff}} = 4$ SYM on shell. Thus, using N = 0, the ansatz becomes the six-fold parametrization

$$n_{\text{box}}^{\mathcal{N}=3}(1,2,3,4,\ell) = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le 4} a_{ij;0} \,\kappa_{ij} \,, \tag{4.13}$$

where κ_{ij} is well defined using eq. (4.8) for $\mathcal{N} = 3$. As is easily checked, for $a_{ij;0} = 1$ the sum collapses to the known answer proportional to the tree superamplitude:

$$n_{\text{box}}^{\mathcal{N}=3} = n_{\text{box}}^{\mathcal{N}=4} = ist A_4^{\text{tree}}(k_i, \eta_i^A) = \frac{[1\,2]\,[3\,4]}{\langle 1\,2 \rangle \langle 3\,4 \rangle} \delta^{(8)}(Q) \,. \tag{4.14}$$

Finally, note that the ansatz (4.10) was chosen so that the numerators with minushelicity legs *i* and *j* will only contain poles in the s_{ij} channel. This is a nontrivial highlyconstraining aesthetic condition. We found that such pole structure gives a necessary



Figure 12. The cyclic symmetry of the alternating-helicity box diagram, which should be imposed on the numerator ansatz.

and sufficient class of non-localities for the four-point one-loop numerators, if they are built as rational functions of gauge-invariant building blocks. Certainly, numerator nonlocalities can be completely avoided by using gauge-dependent building blocks, such as formal polarization vectors [15, 57], but we choose to work with the former type of ansatz.

4.3 Imposing symmetries and cuts

Before proceeding with the calculations of specific theories, we impose some extra universal constraints on the box numerator ansatz. They are not always necessary for the color-kinematics duality to be satisfied, but they often simplify the construction of the amplitudes both in gauge theory and in gravity.

We choose to impose the cyclic symmetry natural to the box topology:

$$n_{\text{box}}(1,2,3,4,\ell) = n_{\text{box}}(2,3,4,1,\ell-k_1).$$
(4.15)

Without this constraint the relabeling symmetry of the box numerator, and the descendent numerators (4.2) and (4.3), would cease to be manifest. In general, the constraint (4.15) give identifications of various components in the supersymmetry expansion, and in particular it implies a two-site permutation symmetry of the alternating-helicity component $n_{\text{box}}(1^-, 2^+, 3^-, 4^+, \ell)$, shown in figure 12.

Furthermore, we would like to extend the cyclic symmetry of the box numerator to a dihedral symmetry. The diagram flip relation eq. (4.4) should then be imposed as a symmetry constraint on the ansatz. Recall that this equation reads

$$\overline{n}_{\text{box}}(1,2,3,4,\ell) = n_{\text{box}}(4,3,2,1,-\ell).$$
(4.16)

The graph-symmetry origin of this equation is illustrated in figure 13, where it is applied to the two distinct helicity components of the box numerator. To use the above equation as a constraint, we need to precisely define how reversing the internal matter arrow operates on the ansatz (4.10). The matter conjugation should flip the chirality of the internalloop matter particles while keeping the external chiral vectors unaltered. By using CPT invariance, we can alternatively regard this as a flip of the chirality of the external vector particles while keeping the internal matter unaltered. For consistent interactions, we also need to flip the sign of parity-odd momentum invariants. The conjugated one-loop fourpoint MHV numerators are then

$$\overline{n}_i(1,2,3,4,\ell) = n_i(1,2,3,4,\ell) \big|_{\kappa_{ij} \to \kappa_{ij}^{\complement}, \,\epsilon(1,2,3,\ell) \to -\epsilon(1,2,3,\ell)}, \tag{4.17}$$



Figure 13. The anti-fundamental boxes can be obtained as the flipped fundamental boxes. Through the matter-conjugation operation, these relations impose constraints on the ansatz.



Figure 14. Non-planar single-line cuts used to compute the numerators and amplitudes.

where $\kappa_{ij}^{\complement} = \kappa_{kl}$ marks the pair of legs $\{k, l\} = \{1, 2, 3, 4\} \setminus \{i, j\}$ unmarked by κ_{ij} . Combining eqs. (4.17) and (4.16) give the desired extra constraint.

The ansatz (4.10) is ultimately constrained by the unitarity cuts. We choose to work with the non-planar single-line cuts shown in figure 14. These cuts can be constructed by taking color-ordered six-point tree-level amplitudes and identifying a conjugate pair of fundamental particles on opposite-site external legs. Because the tree amplitude is colorordered, the identification of momenta on opposite ends of the amplitude does not produce singularities corresponding to soft or collinear poles.

As the internal loop momenta are subject to only one constraint, $\ell^2 = 0$, the singleline cuts are sensitive to most terms in the integrand of the amplitude. Undetected terms correspond to tadpoles and snails (external bubbles), which invariably integrate to zero in a massless theory. Indeed, the tadpole and snail graphs previously described do not contribute to this cut, instead these will be indirectly constrained through the kinematic relations of the numerators.

Even after the symmetries and unitarity cuts are imposed on the numerators, there remain free parameters in the ansatz that can be interpreted as the residual generalized gauge freedom of the given amplitude representation. For simplicity, we will fix this freedom by suitable aesthetic means, as discussed in the next section.

4.4 The amplitude assembly

In this section, we provide the precise details on how to assemble the full one-loop gaugetheory amplitude from the numerators and the color factors. This discussion will be valid for all of the YM theories and amplitudes discussed in the subsequent sections. The complete MHV (super-)amplitude can be written as

$$\mathcal{A}_{4}^{1\text{-loop}} = \sum_{S_4} \left(\frac{1}{8} \mathcal{I}_{\text{box}} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{I}_{\text{tri}} + \frac{1}{16} \mathcal{I}_{\text{bub}} \right), \tag{4.18}$$

where the three (tensor) integrals correspond to the canonically labeled graphs in figure 10, and the sum runs over the set S_4 that denotes the 24 permutations of the four external legs. The rational numbers correspond to the symmetry factors that remove overcounting both from the permutation sum and the internal phase-space integration. In the case of fundamental matter multiplets in the loop, each integral is formed by combining two diagrams with opposite orientations of the internal-matter arrow:

$$\mathcal{I}_i = \int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{(c_i n_i + \overline{c}_i \overline{n}_i)}{D_i}, \qquad (4.19)$$

where $D = 4 - 2\epsilon$ is the spacetime dimension in dimensional regularization, and the denominators D_i are products of the squared momenta of the four internal lines in each graph in figure 10, thus accounting for the four propagators. The color factors for the canonically labeled box, triangle and bubble graphs are

$$c_{\text{box}} = \text{Tr}(T^{a_1}T^{a_2}T^{a_3}T^{a_4}),$$

$$c_{\text{tri}} = \text{Tr}\left([T^{a_1}, T^{a_2}]T^{a_3}T^{a_4}\right),$$

$$c_{\text{bub}} = \text{Tr}\left([T^{a_1}, T^{a_2}][T^{a_3}, T^{a_4}]\right).$$
(4.20)

The antifundamental color factors \bar{c}_i are obtained from c_i by replacing $T^a_{i\bar{j}} \to T^a_{\bar{i}j}$ as discussed in section 2.

From eq. (4.20), it is obvious that the fundamental matter amplitude can be rewritten in terms of only single traces, thus giving color-ordered partial amplitudes in its decomposition

$$\mathcal{A}_{4}^{1\text{-loop,fund}}(1,2,3,4) = \sum_{\{i_{1},i_{2},i_{3},i_{4}\}\in S_{4}/Z_{4}} \operatorname{Tr}(T^{a_{i_{1}}}T^{a_{i_{2}}}T^{a_{i_{3}}}T^{a_{i_{4}}}) A_{4}^{\text{fund}}(i_{1},i_{2},i_{3},i_{4}), \quad (4.21)$$

where the sum runs over the cyclically inequivalent subset of S_4 .

As explained in section 2, the fully adjoint amplitude can be obtained from the amplitude in eq. (4.18) after swapping the generators inside the color factors (2.6). The integrals \mathcal{I}_i then take the following form:

$$\mathcal{I}_i = \int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{c_i^{\mathrm{adj}} n_i^{\mathrm{adj}}}{D_i}, \qquad (4.22)$$

where the adjoint color factors are given by

$$c_{\text{box}}^{\text{adj}} = \tilde{f}^{ba_1c} \tilde{f}^{ca_2d} \tilde{f}^{da_3e} \tilde{f}^{ca_4b} ,$$

$$c_{\text{tri}}^{\text{adj}} = \tilde{f}^{a_1a_2c} \tilde{f}^{bcd} \tilde{f}^{da_3e} \tilde{f}^{ea_4b} ,$$

$$c_{\text{bub}}^{\text{adj}} = \tilde{f}^{a_1a_2c} \tilde{f}^{bcd} \tilde{f}^{deb} \tilde{f}^{ea_3a_4} .$$

$$(4.23)$$

In the standard $SU(N_c)$ -decomposition of the amplitude, the adjoint color factors (4.23) produce double traces:

$$\mathcal{A}_{4}^{1-\text{loop,adj}}(1,2,3,4) = N_{c} \sum_{\{i_{1},i_{2},i_{3},i_{4}\}\in S_{4}/Z_{4}} \operatorname{Tr}(T^{a_{i_{1}}}T^{a_{i_{2}}}T^{a_{i_{3}}}T^{a_{i_{4}}}) A_{4}^{\text{adj}}(i_{1},i_{2},i_{3},i_{4}) + \sum_{\{i_{1},i_{2},i_{3},i_{4}\}\in S_{4}/S_{4;2}} \operatorname{Tr}(T^{a_{i_{1}}}T^{a_{i_{2}}}) \operatorname{Tr}(T^{a_{i_{3}}}T^{a_{i_{4}}}) A_{4;2}^{\text{adj}}(i_{1},i_{2},i_{3},i_{4}),$$

$$(4.24)$$

where $S_{4;2}$ is the subset of S_4 that leaves the double trace structure invariant. The partial amplitudes $A_{4;2}^{\text{adj}}$ in the subleading-color part are not independent but related to the leading-color partial amplitudes A_4^{adj} [55, 62].

A difference in the structure of the one-loop color-ordered partial amplitudes A_m^{fund} and A_m^{adj} is that the latter satisfy reflection relations,

$$A_m^{\rm adj}(1,2,3,\ldots,m) = (-1)^m A_m^{\rm adj}(m,\ldots,3,2,1), \qquad (4.25)$$

whereas the former generally do not. However, for the cases where the matter is effectively non-chiral, and thus $n_i = \overline{n}_i$, the reflection relation is restored, and moreover the partial amplitudes A_4^{adj} and A_4^{fund} in eqs. (4.21) and (4.24) are identical.

4.5 The amplitude with N = 2 fundamental or adjoint matter

Here we construct the four-point one-loop amplitude with a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ fundamental matter multiplet $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}$ circulating in the loop and external adjoint vector multiplets $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=2}$. Because $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}$ has the maximal amount of supersymmetry for matter, it is effectively a non-chiral multiplet. Only the color representation distinguishes it from its conjugate multiplet. Similarly, the color-stripped partial amplitudes are insensitive to the representation. To see this, note that the particle content of the multiplets $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}$, $\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=2}$ in eq. (2.41) and $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=2}^{\mathrm{adj}}$ in eq. (2.43) coincide up to the gauge-group representation indices. Using this fact, we can equate the one-loop kinematical numerators for different representations,

$$n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} = \overline{n}_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} = n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{adj}},\tag{4.26}$$

which reduces the fundamental matter computation to the one with the adjoint matter.

Color-kinematics dual numerators for the component amplitude with external gluons and adjoint $\mathcal{N} = 2$ internal matter have already been constructed in refs. [10, 15, 28, 57]. The result presented here is a minor variation of these known forms. The main novelties are that we use the compact ansatz eq. (4.10), embed the external gluons into their vector supermultiplets, generalize the internal color representation and give the complete results for the integrand, including the μ -terms and the snail diagrams.

Using the ansatz in eq. (4.10) for $N = 4 - N_{\text{eff}} = 2$, we have 174 free parameters to solve for. By combining the equation

$$n_{\rm box} = \overline{n}_{\rm box} \,, \tag{4.27}$$

with the definition (4.17) of the antifundamental numerators, we can reduce the ansatz by half, leaving only 87 free parameters.

Imposing the dihedral symmetries from section 4.3 gives further constraints: the cyclic symmetry (4.15) fixes 58 parameters. A single further variable is fixed by the flip relation (4.4), which becomes a symmetry after imposing eq. (4.27). Enforcing the *D*-dimensional unitarity cuts in figure 14 on the cut integrand fixes 24 out of 28 remaining parameters. At this point, the cubic diagram representation satisfies all conditions to be the correct amplitude, along with the built-in color-kinematics duality.

We choose to fix the remaining four parameters by imposing aesthetic or practical constraints to obtain compact and manageable numerator expressions. Requiring that the snail numerator n_{snail} vanishes for any on-shell external momenta gives two additional conditions. Finally, requiring that the parity-even part of the *s*-channel triangle defined in eq. (4.2) is proportional to *s* gives two more conditions. The latter implicitly enforces no dependence on κ_{12} and κ_{34} in that triangle.⁹

Having thus solved for all free parameters, we obtain the following box numerator:

$$n_{\text{box}}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} = (\kappa_{12} + \kappa_{34}) \frac{(s - \ell_s)^2}{2s^2} + (\kappa_{23} + \kappa_{14}) \frac{\ell_t^2}{2t^2} + (\kappa_{13} + \kappa_{24}) \frac{st + (s + \ell_u)^2}{2u^2} + 2i\epsilon(1, 2, 3, \ell) \frac{\kappa_{13} - \kappa_{24}}{u^2} + \mu^2 \left(\frac{\kappa_{12} + \kappa_{34}}{s} + \frac{\kappa_{23} + \kappa_{14}}{t} + \frac{\kappa_{13} + \kappa_{24}}{u}\right),$$
(4.28)

where the short-hand notation (4.5) for loop-momentum invariants is used and the parameters κ_{ij} encoding the external multiplets are defined in eq. (4.8).

The other numerators are given by the kinematic relations in eqs. (4.2) and (4.3). To be explicit, the triangle numerator is

$$n_{\rm tri}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\rm fund} = (\kappa_{23} + \kappa_{14}) \frac{s(t-2\ell_t)}{2t^2} - (\kappa_{13} + \kappa_{24}) \frac{s(u-2\ell_u)}{2u^2} + 2i\epsilon(1,2,3,\ell) \left(\frac{\kappa_{23} - \kappa_{14}}{t^2} + \frac{\kappa_{13} - \kappa_{24}}{u^2}\right),$$
(4.29)

and the internal bubble numerator is

$$n_{\rm bub}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\rm fund} = s\left(\frac{\kappa_{23} + \kappa_{14}}{t} - \frac{\kappa_{13} + \kappa_{24}}{u}\right). \tag{4.30}$$

In principle, we could ignore any further contributions to the integrand of the amplitude, since snail (external bubble) and tadpole diagrams should integrate to zero in dimensional regularization. However, for completeness, we give the result for the only non-vanishing diagram of this type — the snail. Because of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry power counting, it must include an overall factor k_4^2 (in analogy to a one-loop propagator correction), which vanishes on shell. This contribution is not visible in our ansatz, because the external legs were placed on shell from the very start. Nevertheless, a careful analysis of a singular two-particle unitarity cut reveals that the numerator of the snail diagram shown in figure 11 is given by

$$n_{\text{snail}}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} = -\frac{k_4^2}{2} \left(\frac{\kappa_{23} + \kappa_{14}}{t} - \frac{\kappa_{13} + \kappa_{24}}{u} \right).$$
(4.31)

⁹Alternatively, one can demand that the bubble numerator vanishes, as was done in refs. [10, 28, 57]. This also fixes the last two parameters, but gives a more complicated expression for the triangle.

(4.34b)

As the snail graph has a propagator $1/k_4^2$, the above numerator gives a finite contribution to the integrand, after the indeterminate form 0/0 is properly canceled out. Once this is done, the snail-diagram contribution can be included into the amplitude (4.18) as

$$\frac{1}{4} \sum_{S_4} \mathcal{I}_{\text{snail}} \,, \tag{4.32}$$

where $\mathcal{I}_{\text{snail}}$ is defined by eqs. (4.19) or (4.22) with the respective color factors

$$c_{\text{snail}} = \text{Tr}\left([[T^{a_1}, T^{a_2}], T^{a_3}]T^{a_4}\right) \quad \text{or} \quad c_{\text{snail}}^{\text{adj}} = \tilde{f}^{a_1 a_2 c} \tilde{f}^{ca_3 d} \tilde{f}^{bde} \tilde{f}^{ea_4 b}.$$
 (4.33)

Of course, the snail diagram (4.32) still integrates to zero, so it would be justified to drop it. Nevertheless, we choose to explicitly display the snail graph because there is some potential interest in the planar $\mathcal{N} = 2$ integrand, in analogy with the recent advances with the planar $\mathcal{N} = 4$ integrand [63, 64]. Lastly, the two remaining numerators n_{tadpole} and n_{xtadpole} are manifestly zero, consistent with naive expectations in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric theories.

If we now assemble the full amplitude (4.18) and recast it into the color-ordered form (4.21), we obtain the two inequivalent partial amplitudes in $D = 4 - 2\epsilon$, which are most easily expressed as

$$A_{4}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}}(1^{-},2^{-},3^{+},4^{+}) = \frac{i\langle 12\rangle^{2}[34]^{2}}{(4\pi)^{D/2}} \left\{ -\frac{1}{st}I_{2}(t) \right\},$$

$$A_{4}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}}(1^{-},2^{+},3^{-},4^{+}) = \frac{i\langle 13\rangle^{2}[24]^{2}}{(4\pi)^{D/2}} \left\{ -\frac{r_{\Gamma}}{2u^{2}} \left(\ln^{2}\left(\frac{-s}{-t}\right) + \pi^{2}\right) + \frac{1}{su}I_{2}(s) + \frac{1}{tu}I_{2}(t) \right\},$$
(4.34a)

where I_2 is the standard scalar bubble integral

$$I_2(t) = \frac{r_{\Gamma}}{\epsilon(1-2\epsilon)} (-t)^{-\epsilon} .$$
(4.35)

Here and below, the integrated expressions are shown up to $O(\epsilon)$, and the standard prefactor of dimensional regularization is

$$r_{\Gamma} = \frac{\Gamma(1+\epsilon)\Gamma^2(1-\epsilon)}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)}.$$
(4.36)

Due to eq. (4.26), the partial amplitudes (4.34) are the coefficients of both the clockwise and counterclockwise fundamental color traces in the color-dressed amplitude. Moreover, they coincide with the primitive amplitudes $A_4^{1-\text{loop},\text{adj}}$ with adjoint $\mathcal{N} = 1$ matter in the loop (same as adjoint $\mathcal{N} = 2$ in our convention, see eq. (2.43)), which is the version that is best known in the literature [56, 65].

4.6 The amplitude with $\mathcal{N} = 1$ fundamental matter

In this section, we work out the numerators of the four-point one-loop amplitude with a $\mathcal{N} = 1$ fundamental matter multiplet $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=1}$ circulating in the loop and adjoint vectors

 $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=1}$ on the external legs. The result is the first known color-kinematics representation of this amplitude.

At one loop, the amplitude, along with its numerators, can be naturally decomposed into two simpler components: the parity-even and parity-odd contributions:

$$n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} = \frac{1}{2} n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{even}} + \frac{1}{2} n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{odd}},$$
 (4.37a)

$$\overline{n}_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} = \frac{1}{2} n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{even}} - \frac{1}{2} n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{odd}}, \qquad (4.37\text{b})$$

where we define

$$n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{even}} \equiv n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} + \overline{n}_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}},\tag{4.38a}$$

$$n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{odd}} \equiv n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} - \overline{n}_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}}.$$
(4.38b)

According to eq. (2.11), summing over the fundamental and antifundamental one-loop numerators effectively corresponds to promoting the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ multiplet to the adjoint representation, which by eq. (2.43) is equivalent to a contribution of a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ multiplet. Thus we have the following equalities:

$$n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{even}} = n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{adj}} = n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}}.$$
(4.39)

Since we have already found compact expressions for the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ numerators in section 4.5, we can now focus entirely on the parity-odd $\mathcal{N} = 1$ numerators. Unlike the parity-even ones, they have the expected amount of supersymmetry, hence $\mathcal{N}_{\text{eff}} = 1$. Using the ansatz (4.10) as before, except with $N = 4 - \mathcal{N}_{\text{eff}} = 3$, gives us 546 free parameters to solve for. Similarly to the procedure in the previous section, we can immediately eliminate half of the parameters by imposing the defining property that the box numerator should be odd under matter conjugation:

$$n_{\rm box}^{\rm odd} = -\overline{n}_{\rm box}^{\rm odd} \,, \tag{4.40}$$

which reduces the problem to 273 undetermined parameters.

Next comes the dihedral symmetry of section 4.3: the cyclic symmetry (4.15) fixes 208 parameters. An additional 20 are constrained by the flip relation (4.4), which becomes a symmetry after imposing eq. (4.40).

Out of the remaining 45 free parameters, 20 are fixed by the four-dimensional unitarity cuts shown in figure 14. Requiring that the snail numerator vanishes on shell gives 17 additional constraints. Demanding that the power counting of the numerator is at worst ℓ^m for one-loop *m*-gons gives 3 more conditions, leaving only five parameters to fix. One can check that four of them correspond to genuine freedom of the color-kinematics representations, and one parameter is determined by *D*-dimensional unitarity cuts. However, since it is difficult to analytically continue four-dimensional chiral fermions to D > 4, computing the correct unitarity cut is challenging. Instead, in our final representation, we denote this unfixed parameter by *a* and manually choose the remaining four parameters to the values that give more compact expressions. The box numerator for the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ odd contribution is then given by

$$n_{\text{box}}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{odd}} = -(\kappa_{12} - \kappa_{34}) \frac{(\ell_s - s)^3}{2s^3} - (\kappa_{23} - \kappa_{14}) \frac{\ell_t^3}{2t^3} - (\kappa_{13} - \kappa_{24}) \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\ell_u^3}{u^3} + \frac{3s\ell_u^2}{u^3} - \frac{3s\ell_u}{u^2} + \frac{s}{u}\right) - 2i\epsilon(1, 2, 3, \ell)(\kappa_{13} + \kappa_{24}) \frac{2\ell_u - u}{u^3} + a\mu^2(\kappa_{13} - \kappa_{24}) \frac{s - t}{u^2},$$

$$(4.41)$$

and the triangle and bubble numerators can be obtained using eq. (4.2). They are

$$n_{\rm tri}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\rm odd} = (\kappa_{23} - \kappa_{14})s \left(\frac{3\ell_t^2}{2t^3} - \frac{3\ell_t}{2t^2} + \frac{1}{2t}\right) - (\kappa_{13} - \kappa_{24})s \left(\frac{3\ell_u^2}{2u^3} - \frac{3\ell_u}{2u^2} + \frac{1}{2u}\right) - 2i\epsilon(1,2,3,\ell) \left((\kappa_{23} + \kappa_{14})\frac{2\ell_t - t}{t^3} + (\kappa_{13} + \kappa_{24})\frac{2\ell_u - u}{u^3}\right)$$
(4.42)

$$-a\mu^{2}(\kappa_{23}-\kappa_{14})\frac{s-u}{t^{2}}+a\mu^{2}(\kappa_{13}-\kappa_{24})\frac{s-v}{u^{2}},$$

$$n_{\rm bub}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\rm odd} = -(\kappa_{23}-\kappa_{14})\frac{3s\ell_{t}}{t^{2}}+(\kappa_{13}-\kappa_{24})\frac{3s\ell_{u}}{u^{2}}+4i\epsilon(1,2,3,\ell)\left(\frac{\kappa_{23}+\kappa_{14}}{t^{2}}+\frac{\kappa_{13}+\kappa_{24}}{u^{2}}\right).$$

$$(4.43)$$

As for the three remaining numerators n_{snail} , n_{tadpole} and n_{xtadpole} , defined by eq. (4.3), they are manifestly zero in this representation.

We note that the combinations of n_i and c_i that appear in eq. (4.19) can be rewritten as follows:

$$n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} c_i + \overline{n}_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} \overline{c}_i = \frac{1}{2} n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{even}} (c_i + \overline{c}_i) + \frac{1}{2} n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{odd}} (c_i - \overline{c}_i) .$$
(4.44)

This implies that we can write the following relation for the color-dressed amplitudes:

$$\mathcal{A}_4^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} = \frac{1}{2} \,\mathcal{A}_4^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} + \frac{1}{2} \,\mathcal{A}_4^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{odd}},\tag{4.45}$$

where the last "amplitude" is constructed from the parity-odd numerators and color factors,

$$c_i^{\text{odd}} = c_i - \bar{c}_i \,. \tag{4.46}$$

Although chiral gauge anomalies are not the topic of the current work, it is interesting to note that this contribution contains all the anomalies of the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ amplitude.

The two inequivalent color-ordered amplitudes for the odd part must coincide with those for chiral fermions (see section 4.8). These amplitudes were, for example, computed from four-dimensional unitarity cuts and locality conditions in ref. [66];

$$A_{4}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{odd}}(1^{-}, 2^{-}, 3^{+}, 4^{+}) = 0, \qquad (4.47a)$$

$$A_{4}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{odd}}(1^{-}, 2^{+}, 3^{-}, 4^{+}) = -\frac{ir_{\Gamma}\langle 13\rangle^{2}[24]^{2}}{(4\pi)^{D/2}} \left\{ \frac{s-t}{2u^{3}} \left(\ln^{2} \left(\frac{-s}{-t} \right) + \pi^{2} \right) + \frac{2}{u^{2}} \ln \left(\frac{-s}{-t} \right) - \frac{s-t}{2stu} \right\}. \qquad (4.47b)$$

After comparing to these results, the integration of the color-kinematics representation (4.41) fixes the last parameter to a = 3/2. Interestingly, the precise value of a is irrelevant for the gravity amplitudes constructed in section 5, as the parameter a drops out after the double-copy amplitudes are integrated.

4.7 The MHV amplitude with fundamental $\mathcal{N} = 0$ scalar matter

In this section, we construct the MHV amplitude with the fundamental scalar $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=0}^{\text{scalar}}$ circulating in the loop and external adjoint vectors $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=0}$, i.e. gluons. As in the $\mathcal{N}=2$ case, after ignoring the color representation the scalar matter is effectively CPT-invariant and thus the color-stripped amplitudes for $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=0}^{\text{scalar}}$, $\overline{\Phi}_{\mathcal{N}=0}^{\text{scalar}}$ and $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=0}^{\text{adj scalar}}$ are the same. Therefore, we can equate the numerators of the different multiplets:

$$n_i^{\text{scalar}} = \overline{n}_i^{\text{scalar}} = n_i^{\text{adj scalar}}.$$
(4.48)

The color-kinematics representation of the amplitude with an adjoint scalar has been previously constructed [15, 57] in a fully-covariant form (using formal polarization vectors). The result presented here will be a helicity-based computation of this amplitude. The main novelties are that we use the compact ansatz (4.10) that relies on the four-dimensional notation for the external legs, and that we trivially generalize the internal color representation. Note that we only give the MHV amplitude, leaving out, for brevity, the amplitudes exclusively present in non-supersymmetric theories: the all-plus-helicity and one-minus-helicity amplitudes, and their parity conjugates (see ref. [57] for these).

The ansatz (4.10) with $\mathcal{N}_{\text{eff}} = 0$ gives a parametrization with 1428 variables. Imposing

$$n_{\rm box} = \overline{n}_{\rm box} \,, \tag{4.49}$$

immediately reduces the undetermined parameters by a factor of two. The cyclic symmetry (4.15) fixes 512 out of 714 remaining parameters, and the flip relation (4.4) eliminates 29 more. The *D*-dimensional unitarity cuts in figure 14 fix 118 parameters, leaving 55 free.

Next we impose practical constraints. Similarly to refs. [15, 57], we demand that the snail diagram in figure 11 gives a scaleless integral: otherwise it will not necessarily integrate to zero.¹⁰ A scaleless snail integral is achieved if its numerator is allowed to be a function of only one scalar product between the external and internal momenta, namely $k_4 \cdot \ell$, where k_4 is the external momentum directly entering the bubble subgraph of the snail. This means that the integral is a function of only $k_4^2 = 0$, so it must vanish in dimensional regularization. This constraint fixes 25 parameters.

Continuing with aesthetic conditions, we require that the triangle numerator has no dependence on κ_{12} or κ_{34} , which gives 20 more conditions. Demanding that the power counting of each *m*-gon numerator is at most ℓ^m gives 5 more constraints. The remaining 5 parameters are fixed manually to obtain more compact expressions for the numerators.

¹⁰Imposing that the snail numerator vanish would be ideal, but this is not consistent with the ansatz (4.10) and the cuts in the $\mathcal{N} = 0$ case.

As a result, we obtain the following box numerator for the one-loop four-gluon amplitude with a scalar in the loop:

$$n_{\text{box}}^{\text{scalar}} = -(\kappa_{12} + \kappa_{34}) \left(\frac{\ell_s^4}{4s^4} - \frac{\ell_s^2 (2\ell^2 + 3\ell_s)}{4s^3} + \frac{2\ell^2 \ell_s + \ell_s^2 - 2\mu^4}{2s^2} - \frac{2\ell^2 - \ell_s + s}{4s} \right) - (\kappa_{23} + \kappa_{14}) \left(\frac{\ell_t^4}{4t^4} - \frac{\ell_t^2 (2\ell^2 - \ell_s - \ell_u + t)}{4t^3} - \frac{\mu^4}{t^2} \right) - (\kappa_{13} + \kappa_{24}) \left(\frac{\ell_u^3 (\ell_u + 3s)}{4u^4} - \frac{\ell_u (\ell_u (2\ell^2 - \ell_s) - \ell_s^2 + \ell_t^2 + 4s(\ell^2 + \ell_u + 2\mu^2))}{4u^3} - \frac{\ell_s^2 - \ell_t^2 + 3\ell_u^2 + 4\ell^2 t + 8\mu^2 (\ell_u - s + \mu^2)}{8u^2} - \frac{\ell_s - s}{4u} \right) - 2i\epsilon(1, 2, 3, \ell) (\kappa_{13} - \kappa_{24}) \frac{\ell_u^2 - u\ell_u - 2\mu^2 u}{u^4}.$$

$$(4.50)$$

The other numerators are given by the kinematic relations (4.2) and (4.3). Explicitly, the triangle numerator is

$$n_{\rm tri}^{\rm scalar} = (\kappa_{23} + \kappa_{14}) \left(\frac{3\ell_t^3 s}{4t^4} - \frac{\ell_t \left(\ell_u^2 - \ell_s^2 + \ell_t \ell_u + 4s(\ell^2 + \ell_t + 2\mu^2) \right)}{4t^3} - \frac{\ell_s^2 + \ell_t^2 - \ell_u^2 + 8\ell_t \mu^2 - 4s(\ell^2 + 2\mu^2)}{8t^2} + \frac{2\ell^2 - \ell_s + s}{4t} \right) - (\kappa_{13} + \kappa_{24}) \left(\frac{3\ell_u^3 s}{4u^4} - \frac{\ell_u \left(\ell_t^2 - \ell_s^2 + \ell_t \ell_u + 4s(\ell^2 + \ell_u + 2\mu^2) \right)}{4u^3} - \frac{\ell_s^2 + \ell_u^2 - \ell_t^2 + 8\ell_u \mu^2 - 4s(\ell^2 + 2\mu^2)}{8u^2} + \frac{2\ell^2 - \ell_s + s}{4u} \right) - 2i\epsilon(1, 2, 3, \ell) \left((\kappa_{23} - \kappa_{14}) \frac{\ell_t^2 - t\ell_t - 2\mu^2 t}{t^4} + (\kappa_{13} - \kappa_{24}) \frac{\ell_u^2 - u\ell_u - 2\mu^2 u}{u^4} \right),$$

$$(4.51)$$

and the bubble numerator is

$$n_{\text{bub}}^{\text{scalar}} = -(\kappa_{23} + \kappa_{14}) \left(\frac{2s\ell_t^2}{t^3} + \frac{4u\ell^2 - \ell_u^2 + \ell_t^2 + \ell_s^2 - 8s\mu^2}{4t^2} + \frac{\ell_s - s}{2t} \right) + (\kappa_{13} + \kappa_{24}) \left(\frac{2s\ell_u^2}{u^3} + \frac{4t\ell^2 - \ell_t^2 + \ell_u^2 + \ell_s^2 - 8s\mu^2}{4u^2} + \frac{\ell_s - s}{2u} \right) + 4i\epsilon(1, 2, 3, \ell) \left(\ell_t \frac{\kappa_{23} - \kappa_{14}}{t^3} + \ell_u \frac{\kappa_{13} - \kappa_{24}}{u^3} \right).$$

$$(4.52)$$

There are also nonvanishing numerators for external bubbles and external and internal tadpoles that can be obtained from eq. (4.3), but since these integrals integrate to zero we do not display them here.

Assembling the pieces of the $\mathcal{N} = 0$ amplitude for a fundamental or an adjoint scalar is done along the lines of section 4.4. In both cases, the primitive color-stripped amplitudes are the same, only the color dressing will differ between the gauge-group representations. The primitive color-stripped amplitudes for a single scalar contribution in the loop are known [65] to be:

$$A_4^{\mathcal{N}=0,\text{scalar}}(1^-, 2^-, 3^+, 4^+) = \frac{i\langle 12\rangle^2 [34]^2}{(4\pi)^{D/2}} \left\{ -\frac{1}{6st} I_2(t) - \frac{r_{\Gamma}}{9st} \right\},$$
(4.53a)

$$A_4^{\mathcal{N}=0,\text{scalar}}(1^-, 2^+, 3^-, 4^+) = \frac{i\langle 13\rangle^2 [24]^2}{(4\pi)^{D/2}} \left\{ -\frac{r_{\Gamma}st}{2u^4} \left(\ln^2\left(\frac{-s}{-t}\right) + \pi^2 \right) \right\}$$
(4.53b)

$$-\left(\frac{s-t}{2u^3} - \frac{1}{6su}\right)I_2(s) - \left(\frac{t-s}{2u^3} - \frac{1}{6tu}\right)I_2(t) + \frac{r_{\Gamma}}{2u^2} - \frac{r_{\Gamma}}{9st}\right\},\$$

and indeed our construction agrees with these.

4.8 The MHV amplitude with fundamental $\mathcal{N} = 0$ fermion matter

Here we present the MHV amplitude with a fundamental chiral fermion $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=0}^{\text{fermion}}$ circulating in the loop and external adjoint vectors $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=0}$, i.e. gluons. This amplitude is actually a simple linear combination of the three amplitudes discussed above, so no extra work is needed. Note that, as for the scalar case, we only give the MHV amplitude.

The basic identity that we use is that a chiral fermion is obtained after subtracting the scalar $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=0}^{\text{scalar}}$ from the $\Phi_{\mathcal{N}=1}$ multiplet. For the one-loop amplitudes this implies that

$$\mathcal{A}_{4}^{\text{fermion}} = \mathcal{A}_{4}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} - \mathcal{A}_{4}^{\text{scalar}} = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{A}_{4}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{A}_{4}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{odd}} - \mathcal{A}_{4}^{\text{scalar}}, \quad (4.54)$$

where we used eq. (4.45). Hence we can define the fundamental fermion numerators as:

$$n_i^{\text{fermion}} \equiv \frac{1}{2} n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} + \frac{1}{2} n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{odd}} - n_i^{\text{scalar}}, \qquad (4.55a)$$

$$\overline{n}_i^{\text{fermion}} \equiv \frac{1}{2} n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} - \frac{1}{2} n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{odd}} - n_i^{\text{scalar}}.$$
(4.55b)

Note that, just as in the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ case, the parity-odd contributions to the chiral fermion amplitude come entirely from the odd $\mathcal{N} = 1$ sector. Thus, interestingly, the chiral-anomalous part of the chiral fermion amplitude effectively has $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry.

5 One-loop four-point supergravity amplitudes

In this section, we assemble the duality-satisfying numerators into various one-loop fourpoint supergravity amplitudes. Similar to eq. (4.18), we write these amplitudes as

$$\mathcal{M}_{4}^{1\text{-loop}} = \left(\frac{\kappa}{2}\right)^{4} \sum_{S_{4}} \left(\frac{1}{8}\mathcal{I}_{\text{box}} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{I}_{\text{tri}} + \frac{1}{16}\mathcal{I}_{\text{bub}}\right),\tag{5.1}$$

where the three integrals correspond to the canonically labeled graphs in figure 10, and the rational prefactors compensate for overcount in the sum over the set S_4 of 24 permutations of the four external legs, as well as overcount in the phase space of the bubble graph.

5.1 Matter amplitudes

Here we check the double-copy construction for gravity amplitudes with external graviton multiplets H_N^{11} and internal matter of the types shown in the right column of table 2.

First of all, consider the following double copy of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ numerators of section 4.5:

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2+2,\text{matter}} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \, \frac{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} \, \overline{n}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} + \overline{n}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} \, n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}}}{D_{i}} \,, \qquad (5.2)$$

which is a precise implementation of the last line and right column of table 2. Due to the effective CPT invariance of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ matter numerators, this fundamental-representation double copy gives exactly twice the known [10, 15, 28, 57] adjoint double copy,

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2+2,\text{matter}} = 2\,\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=4,\text{matter}} = 2\int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{(n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{adj}})^{2}}{D_{i}}\,.$$
(5.3)

The adjoint-representation double copy corresponds to a single $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=4}$ multiplet contribution in the loop. Up to this factor of two, we recover the $\mathcal{N}=4$ matter amplitude, first computed by Dunbar and Norridge in ref. [67]:

$$M_4^{\mathcal{N}=4,\text{matter}}(1^{--}, 2^{--}, 3^{++}, 4^{++}) = \frac{ir_{\Gamma}\langle 12\rangle^4 [34]^4}{(4\pi)^{D/2}} \frac{1}{2s^4} \left\{ -tu \left(\ln^2 \left(\frac{-t}{-u} \right) + \pi^2 \right) + s(t-u) \ln \left(\frac{-t}{-u} \right) + s^2 \right\},$$
(5.4)

and the other component amplitudes are given by supersymmetry Ward identities.

Using the same relation for the $\mathcal{N}=2$ matter numerators, and additionally taking into account that

$$n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} + \overline{n}_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} = n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{adj}},\tag{5.5}$$

the fundamental-representation double copy in the second-to-last line of table 2 becomes

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2+1,\text{matter}} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} \overline{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} + \overline{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}}}}{D_{i}} = \mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=4,\text{matter}}.$$
 (5.6)

So these contributions also reduce to the adjoint-representation double copy (5.3) of the amplitude (5.4), though this time without the factor of two.

The discussed two entries of table 2 can be regarded merely as a new perspective on the corresponding adjoint-representation double copies. However, the remaining part of the right column of table 2 is genuinely tied to the novel fundamental construction, and not trivially related to adjoint double copies. For instance, the $(\mathcal{N} = 1)^2$ matter double copy successfully exploits¹² the chiral structure, giving

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1+1,\text{matter}} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \, \frac{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} \,\overline{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} + \overline{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}}} \, n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}}}{D_{i}} = 2 \, \mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{matter}},$$
(5.7)

¹¹More precisely, to get $H_{\mathcal{N}}$ multiplets, the external dilaton-axion multiplets X, \overline{X} should be projected out, which is straightforward for external states.

¹²Recall that $\mathcal{N} = 1$ (chiral) adjoint matter works differently since it effectively has $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry and thus produces $(\mathcal{N}=2)^2 = (\mathcal{N}=4)$ matter in the double copy.

where the last identity indicates that this construction corresponds to twice the contribution of a single non-chiral $\mathcal{N} = 2$ matter multiplet. The graviton component of this matter amplitude was computed in ref. [67] using non-chiral building blocks, its integrated form is

$$M_4^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{matter}}(1^{--}, 2^{--}, 3^{++}, 4^{++}) = \frac{ir_{\Gamma}\langle 12 \rangle^4 [34]^4}{(4\pi)^{D/2}} \left\{ -\frac{t^2 u^2}{2s^6} \left(\ln^2 \left(\frac{-t}{-u} \right) + \pi^2 \right) + \frac{(t-u)(t^2+8tu+u^2)}{12s^5} \ln \left(\frac{-t}{-u} \right) + \frac{t^2+14tu+u^2}{24s^4} \right\}.$$
(5.8)

The fact that our chiral double copy agrees with twice this amplitude is a highly nontrivial check of our construction.

The remaining three entries of table 2 provide even more constraining checks of our procedure, as they include the non-supersymmetric chiral-fermion numerators (4.55). We verified that the double copy,

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=0+0,\text{matter}} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \, \frac{n_{i}^{\text{fermion}} \overline{n}_{i}^{\text{fermion}} + \overline{n}_{i}^{\text{fermion}} \, n_{i}^{\text{fermion}}}{D_{i}} = 2 \, \mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=0,\text{scalar}}, \qquad (5.9)$$

reproduces twice the scalar-matter amplitude [67]:

$$\begin{split} M_4^{\mathcal{N}=0,\text{scalar}}(1^{--},2^{--},3^{++},4^{++}) &= \\ \frac{ir_{\Gamma}\langle 12\rangle^4 [34]^4}{(4\pi)^{D/2}} \frac{1}{2} \Biggl\{ -\frac{t^3 u^3}{s^8} \Biggl(\ln^2 \left(\frac{-t}{-u}\right) + \pi^2 \Biggr) \\ &+ \frac{(t-u)(t^4+9t^3u+46t^2u^2+9tu^3+u^4)}{30s^7} \ln \left(\frac{-t}{-u}\right) + \frac{2t^4+23t^3u+222t^2u^2+23tu^3+2u^4}{180s^6} \Biggr\}. \end{split}$$

$$(5.10)$$

Replacing the left-copy fermion numerators by the chiral $\mathcal{N} = 1$ numerators,

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1+0,\text{matter}} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \, \frac{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} \, \overline{n_{i}^{\text{fermion}} + \overline{n}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} \, n_{i}^{\text{fermion}}}{D_{i}} = \mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{matter}}, \qquad (5.11)$$

also reproduces the correct amplitude (5.8). Doing the same for $\mathcal{N} = 2$ numerators,

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2+0,\text{matter}} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \, \frac{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} \, \overline{n_{i}^{\text{fermion}} + \overline{n}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{fund}} \, n_{i}^{\text{fermion}}}{D_{i}} = \mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{vector}}, \qquad (5.12)$$

results in the correct $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=2}$ -vector amplitude, which can be otherwise calculated as

$$M_4^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{vector}}(1,2,3,4) = M_4^{\mathcal{N}=4,\text{matter}}(1,2,3,4) - 2M_4^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{matter}}(1,2,3,4).$$
(5.13)

In addition, even if they are not included in table 2, we note that the fundamental scalar numerators of section 4.7 also produce sensible double copies at one loop, such as

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=0'+0',\,\text{scalar matter}} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \,\frac{n_{i}^{\text{scalar}}\overline{n}_{i}^{\text{scalar}} + \overline{n}_{i}^{\text{scalar}} n_{i}^{\text{scalar}}}{D_{i}} = 2\,\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=0,\text{scalar}},\qquad(5.14)$$



Figure 15. Construction of a pure gravity amplitude by subtraction of axion and dilaton. At one loop, the matter contribution can be from either a fermion or a scalar.

which integrates to twice the scalar-matter amplitude (5.10). However, this is equivalent to the adjoint construction of refs. [15, 57]. Eq. (5.5) also implies that the double copy

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1+0',\text{matter}} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \, \frac{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} \, \overline{n_{i}^{\text{scalar}} + \overline{n}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\text{fund}} \, n_{i}^{\text{scalar}}}{D_{i}} = \mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{matter}}, \qquad (5.15)$$

trivially follows from the adjoint double copy $(\mathcal{N}=2, \mathrm{adj}) \times (\mathcal{N}=0, \mathrm{scalar})$, which integrates to the $\mathcal{N}=2$ matter amplitude (5.8).

While the double copies involving scalars work flawlessly for one-loop amplitudes with external graviton multiplets, we expect similar constructions to be more problematic or ambiguous at higher loops. In particular, as far as we know, the scalars cannot be used to obtain pure gravity amplitudes at two loops and higher. Furthermore, in the absence of supersymmetry, the scalar self-interactions are not fixed by universal considerations.

5.2 Pure gravity amplitudes

In the previous section, we checked that our fundamental numerators produce all the matter-amplitude double copies from table 2. Based on that and the conventional adjoint-representation double copies, we can now formulate what the recipe in section 3 gives for pure (super-)gravity four-point¹³ one-loop amplitudes. We will not write out the explicitly integrated forms of the one-loop four-point amplitudes, as they can be found in ref. [67]. After integration, all our amplitudes agree with the results therein.

As in illustrated in figure 15, the integrals for pure Einstein gravity, or general relativity (GR), in our framework are given by

$$\mathcal{I}_i^{\text{GR}} = \int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{(n_i^{\text{YM}})^2 - 2 n_i^{\text{fermion}} \overline{n}_i^{\text{fermion}}}{D_i} \,. \tag{5.16}$$

The pure YM numerators can be easily constructed from the numerators (4.14), (4.28) and (4.50) through the well-known [68] one-loop supersymmetry decomposition. This decomposition, for both numerators and amplitudes at one loop, is given by

$$n_i^{\text{YM}} = n_i^{\mathcal{N}=4} - 4 n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{adj}} + 2 n_i^{\text{adj scalar}},$$

$$\mathcal{A}_m^{\text{YM}} = \mathcal{A}_m^{\mathcal{N}=4} - 4 \mathcal{A}_m^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{adj}} + 2 \mathcal{A}_m^{\text{adj scalar}}.$$
 (5.17)

¹³In principle, the formulas in this subsection are valid for any multiplicity at one loop, once the corresponding numerators are known.

The fermion ghosts in eq. (5.16) subtract the dilaton and the axion contributions. However, due to the fact that at one loop double copies of anti-aligned chiral fermions are equal to scalar double copies, the same integrals can be reproduced simply as

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\text{GR}} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{(n_{i}^{\text{YM}})^{2} - 2(n_{i}^{\text{adj scalar}})^{2}}{D_{i}}.$$
(5.18)

Although the latter construction is nice, the higher-loop cut checks from section 3.4 suggest that this equality is accidental. The fundamental-fermion framework resulting in eq. (5.16) is the one that should be generally valid at higher loops.

The pure $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity amplitude is generated by the following integrals:

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1\,\mathrm{SG}} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1\,\mathrm{SYM}} n_{i}^{\mathrm{YM}} - n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\mathrm{fund}} \overline{n}_{i}^{\mathrm{fermion}} - \overline{n}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\mathrm{fund}} n_{i}^{\mathrm{fermion}}}{D_{i}}, \quad (5.19)$$

and the integrals for pure $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity are given by

$$\mathcal{I}_i^{\mathcal{N}=2\,\mathrm{SG}} = \int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{(n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1\,\mathrm{SYM}})^2 - 2\,n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\mathrm{fund}}\,\overline{n}_i^{\mathcal{N}=1,\mathrm{fund}}}{D_i} \,. \tag{5.20}$$

The numerators for $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SYM can be constructed from the numerators (4.14) and (4.28) through the following one-loop supersymmetry decomposition [68]:

$$n_i^{\mathcal{N}=1\,\text{SYM}} = n_i^{\mathcal{N}=4} - 3\,n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{adj}}.$$
 (5.21)

In eqs. (5.19) and (5.20), the matter ghosts subtract the contributions from one and two $\mathcal{N} = 2$ matter multiplets, respectively.

Alternatively, we can write the pure $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity using the integrals

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2\,\mathrm{SG}} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2\,\mathrm{SYM}} n_{i}^{\mathrm{YM}} - n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\mathrm{fund}} \overline{n}_{i}^{\mathrm{fermion}} - \overline{n}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\mathrm{fund}} n_{i}^{\mathrm{fermion}}}{D_{i}} , \qquad (5.22)$$

where the ghosts cancel a $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=2}$ multiplet, i.e. an abelian vector multiplet. The numerators for $\mathcal{N}=2$ SYM can be constructed from the numerators (4.14) and (4.28) through the following decomposition [68]:

$$n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2\,\text{SYM}} = n_i^{\mathcal{N}=4} - 2\,n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\text{adj}}.$$
 (5.23)

The fact that the above two very different constructions of pure $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity give the same amplitude is highly nontrivial. If our prescription does not encounter unexpected obstructions at higher loops, this nontrivial equality should be true in all generality.

The pure $\mathcal{N} = 3$ supergravity amplitude is obtained through the integrals

$$\mathcal{I}_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=3\,\mathrm{SG}} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2\,\mathrm{SYM}} n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1\,\mathrm{SYM}} - n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\mathrm{fund}} \overline{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\mathrm{fund}}} - \overline{n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=2,\mathrm{fund}}} n_{i}^{\mathcal{N}=1,\mathrm{fund}}}{D_{i}},$$
(5.24)

where the ghosts subtract out a $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{N}=4}$ -vector multiplet, equal to the combination of two $\mathcal{N}=3$ chiral multiplets.

Although pure $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supergravity is a factorizable theory, meaning that its amplitudes and integrals can be written as an adjoint double copy of pure YM theories,

$$\mathcal{I}_i^{\mathcal{N}=4\,\mathrm{SG}} = \int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{n_i^{\mathcal{N}=4\,\mathrm{SYM}} n_i^{\mathrm{YM}}}{D_i} \,, \tag{5.25}$$

they can also be obtained through a fundamental-representation double copy

$$\mathcal{I}_i^{\mathcal{N}=4\,\mathrm{SG}} = \int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2\,\mathrm{SYM}} n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2\,\mathrm{SYM}} - 2n_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\mathrm{fund}} \overline{n}_i^{\mathcal{N}=2,\mathrm{fund}}}{D_i} \,. \tag{5.26}$$

Similarly to the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ case, that these two very different constructions of pure $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supergravity give the same amplitude is a nontrivial result [10, 69].

With that said, we have gone through all the cases listed in table 2. Our double-copy prescription produces the correct one-loop four-point amplitudes for $\mathcal{N} = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4$ pure supergravities, as confirmed by comparing to the previously known results [67].

6 Conclusion and outlook

In this paper, we have extended the scope of color-kinematics duality to matter fields in the fundamental representation. As we showed through various examples, this allows us to construct gravity scattering amplitudes in a broad range of (super-)gravity theories using the double-copy prescription. This includes Einstein gravity, pure $\mathcal{N} < 4$ supergravity, and supergravities with arbitrary non-self-interacting matter.

The main focus of this work is to address the issue of unwanted matter degrees of freedom propagating in the loops that appear when one attempts to construct pure $\mathcal{N} < 4$ supergravities using the color-kinematics duality. Such supersymmetric dilaton-axion matter is inherent to the standard double copy of adjoint-representation gauge theories. Using the fundamental representation for YM theory matter gives us a means to differentiate these fields from the adjoint ones, so that the double copies can be performed separately. If we promote the matter double copies to be ghosts, they cancel the unwanted matter states in the double copy of the vector fields. Moreover, the ghost double-copy prescription, $c_i \to (-1)^{|i|} \overline{n}'_i$, can be easily extended to a tunable-matter prescription, $c_i \to (N_X)^{|i|} \overline{n}'_i$, thus producing theories with any number of matter multiplets coupled to gravity.

We have presented nontrivial evidence supporting our framework using examples both for tree and loop-level amplitudes, as well as more general arguments. At tree level, we have checked the construction of gravitational amplitudes with non-self-interacting matter though seven points, with the most general external states. At one loop, we have constructed the color-kinematics representation of four-gluon amplitudes with general fundamental matter circulating in the loop. Using the double-copy prescription, we have obtained the one-loop four-graviton amplitudes in Einstein gravity, pure $\mathcal{N} < 4$ supergravity and supergravity with generic matter.

Our explicit calculations give novel and simple forms for YM numerators containing $\mathcal{N} = 2, 1$ supersymmetric fundamental matter, as well as non-supersymmetric fundamental scalars and fermions. Equivalent numerators that satisfy the color-kinematics duality were

D	$A^{\mu} \otimes A^{\nu} \!=\! \phi \oplus h^{\mu\nu} \!\oplus B^{\mu\nu}$	tensoring matter	$(matter)^2 = \phi \oplus B^{\mu\nu} \oplus D^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$	\Rightarrow states
3	$1\otimes 1\!=\!1\!\oplus 0\oplus 0$	$\lambda\otimes\overline{\lambda}$	$1\otimes 1\!=\!1\!\oplus 0\oplus 0$	topological
4	$2\otimes 2\!=\!1\!\oplus 2\oplus 1$	$(\lambda^+\otimes\lambda^-)\oplus(\lambda^-\otimes\lambda^+)$	$(1\otimes 1)\oplus (1\otimes 1)=1\oplus 1\oplus 0$	$h^{\mu\nu}$
5	$3\otimes 3\!=\!1\!\oplus 5\oplus 3$	$\lambda^lpha\otimes\overline\lambda^eta$	$2\otimes 2\!=\!1\!\oplus 3\oplus 0$	$h^{\mu u}$
6	$4\otimes4\!=\!1\!\oplus9\oplus6$	$(\lambda^{lpha}\otimes\lambda^{eta})\oplus(\widetilde{\lambda}^{\dot{lpha}}\otimes\widetilde{\lambda}^{\dot{eta}})$	$(2\otimes 2)\oplus(2\otimes 2)=1\oplus 6\oplus 1$	$h^{\mu\nu}, D^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}_{\rm ghost}$
10	$8\otimes8\!=\!1\!\oplus35\oplus28$	$\lambda^A\otimes\lambda^B$	$8\otimes 8\!=\!1\!\oplus 28\oplus 35$	$h^{\mu\nu}, D^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}_{\rm ghost}$

Table 3. On-shell state counting for pure bosonic gravities in various spacetime dimensions. Subtracting the matter double copies from the vector double copies gives the correct states in the pure theories in dimensions D = 3, 4, 5, but for D = 6, 10 the naive approach gives excess cancellations resulting in a four-form ghost.

known [10, 15, 28, 57] for all but the odd part of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ the matter contribution, which we give in eq. (4.41). After integration, our new representations of one-loop gravity amplitudes are in full accord with the results of Dunbar and Norridge [67]. Moreover, they provide a direct check of the nontrivial equality of the symmetric $\mathcal{N} = 1 + 1$ and the asymmetric $\mathcal{N} = 2 + 0$ supergravity construction.

At two loops, we have checked the consistency of the construction of Einstein gravity and pure $\mathcal{N} < 4$ supergravity. We considered four-dimensional unitarity cuts of two-loop amplitudes, and applied the ghost prescription to the matter double copies. The cuts show that, when using double copies of fundamental fermions, our construction correctly eliminates the unwanted dilaton-axion degrees of freedom naturally present in the double copy of pure YM theory. We have checked that the same cancellation happens in the supersymmetric generalizations. The two-loop checks also show that when using double copies of fundamental scalars the cancellation with the dilaton-axion states is incomplete. Table 2 summarizes the valid double copies for the matter ghosts.

While the double copy of fundamental scalars is unsuitable for the construction of Einstein gravity, it is interesting to note that the fundamental-scalar amplitudes nontrivially satisfy the color-kinematics duality. The resulting double-copy amplitude should correspond to some gravitational amplitudes that are corrected by four-scalar terms and possibly higher-order interactions. We leave the details of the non-supersymmetric double copy of fundamental scalars for future work.

While our construction of pure supergravities passes many nontrivial checks, it is well known that higher-loop calculations can be plagued by subtleties coming from dimensional regularization. Thus it is important that our prescription is carefully scrutinized by explicit L > 1 calculations in both pure and matter-coupled supergravities. Starting at two loops, the scheme-dependence of different types of dimensional-regularization prescriptions would be interesting to study.

It would be also interesting to see how our double-copy prescription for pure gravities can be extended beyond $D = 4 - 2\epsilon$ dimensions. For instance, in table 3, we provide some prospective integer-dimensional constructions of this kind, ranging from D = 3 to D = 10 in the non-supersymmetric setting. As shown, starting in D = 6 the naive ghost prescription appears to need a modification in order to avoid over-cancellation of the physical states. In conclusion, we expect that our results will open a new window into the study of pure $\mathcal{N} = 0, 1, 2, 3$ supergravity multiloop amplitudes and their ultraviolet properties. Pure Einstein gravity is known to have a divergence in the two-loop effective action, as was proven in refs. [70–72] using computerized symbolic manipulations. The $\mathcal{N} = 1, 2, 3$ theories are known to have no divergences at one and two loops due to supersymmetry [73– 76], but the status of these theories at three loops and beyond is unknown. It would be interesting to reinvestigate the $\mathcal{N} < 4$ theories from the modern point of view using new analytic methods and structures, including the current results, in hope of gaining better understanding of the structure of quantum gravity.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Zvi Bern, Ruth Britto and John Joseph Carrasco for helpful discussions. We also thank Marco Chiodaroli, Murat Günaydin, Radu Roiban and Piotr Tourkine for conversations and collaborations on topics related to this work.

A Specific matter interactions

In this appendix, we list the types of YM interactions that we consider in this paper. First of all, let us separate the pure vector interactions from the matter contributions, then the Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{pure SYM}} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{matter}} \,. \tag{A.1}$$

For example, in the non-supersymmetric case $\mathcal{L}_{\text{pure YM}} = -\frac{1}{4}F^a_{\mu\nu}F^{a\mu\nu}$, with the following normalization for the field strength $F^a_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{[\mu}A^a_{\nu]} - ig/\sqrt{2}\tilde{f}^{abc}A^b_{\mu}A^c_{\nu}$.

In case we have a single fundamental complex scalar, the matter Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{scalar}} = (\overline{D_{\mu}\phi})_{\bar{j}} (D^{\mu}\phi)_{j} - \frac{g^{2}}{4} (\overline{\phi}_{\bar{i}}T^{a}_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}\phi_{j}) (\overline{\phi}_{\bar{k}}T^{a}_{k\bar{l}}\phi_{l}) , \qquad (A.2)$$

where $(D_{\mu}\phi)_j = \partial_{\mu}\phi_j - ig/\sqrt{2}T^a_{j\bar{k}}A^a_{\mu}\phi_k$. Note that we include a four-scalar contact term since it is needed when generalizing to supersymmetric theories below. We still regard theories with such a contact term "non-self-interacting" in the sense that they contain no self-interactions beyond those required by supersymmetry and gauge invariance.

For a single fundamental Weyl fermion ψ_k , the matter term is the usual one

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{fermion}} = \tilde{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\bar{j}} i D_{j\bar{k}}^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} \psi_{\alpha k} , \qquad (A.3)$$

with the covariant derivative $D_{j\bar{k}}^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = \overline{\sigma}_{\mu}^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} (\delta_{j\bar{k}} \partial^{\mu} - ig/\sqrt{2}A_{j\bar{k}}^{\mu})$. In our convention, the field $\psi(\tilde{\psi})$ carry the on-shell mode corresponding to a negative (positive) helicity fermion.

For the supersymmetric cases, the kinetic parts of the matter interactions are similar when written in terms of the individual physical components of the multiplet. Additionally, due to supersymmetry, Yukawa interactions between the adjoint fermion λ (and scalar φ_{12}) in the vector multiplet and the matter fields are also present. Explicitly, the matter contributions are

and

where the Yukawa interactions are

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{matter}}^{\text{Yukawa}} = \left(\widetilde{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\bar{j}}\widetilde{\lambda}_{j\bar{k}}^{\dot{\alpha}A} + \psi_{\bar{j}}^{\alpha}\lambda_{\alpha j\bar{k}}^{A}\right)\phi_{Ak} + \overline{\phi}_{\bar{j}}^{A}\left(\lambda_{Aj\bar{k}}^{\alpha}\psi_{\alpha k} + \widetilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}Aj\bar{k}}\widetilde{\psi}_{k}^{\dot{\alpha}}\right) + \psi_{\bar{j}}^{\alpha}\varphi_{12j\bar{k}}\psi_{\alpha k} + \widetilde{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}\bar{j}}\overline{\varphi}_{j\bar{k}}^{12}\widetilde{\psi}_{k}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \tag{A.6}$$

and the purely-bosonic matter is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{matter}}^{\text{bosonic}} = (\overline{D^{\mu}\phi^{A}})_{\bar{\jmath}}(D_{\mu}\phi_{A})_{j} - \frac{g^{2}}{2}\overline{\phi}_{\bar{\jmath}}^{A}\{\overline{\varphi}^{12},\varphi_{12}\}_{j\bar{k}}\phi_{Aj} + \frac{g^{2}}{4}\left(\overline{\phi}_{\bar{\imath}}^{A}T_{i\bar{\jmath}}^{a}\phi_{Aj}\right)\left(\overline{\phi}_{\bar{k}}^{B}T_{k\bar{l}}^{a}\phi_{Bl}\right) - \frac{g^{2}}{2}\left(\overline{\phi}_{\bar{\imath}}^{A}T_{i\bar{\jmath}}^{a}\phi_{Bj}\right)\left(\overline{\phi}_{\bar{k}}^{B}T_{k\bar{l}}^{a}\phi_{Al}\right).$$
(A.7)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- Z. Bern, J.J.M. Carrasco and H. Johansson, New relations for gauge-theory amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 085011 [arXiv:0805.3993] [INSPIRE].
- [2] Z. Bern, J.J.M. Carrasco and H. Johansson, Perturbative quantum gravity as a double copy of gauge theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 061602 [arXiv:1004.0476] [INSPIRE].
- [3] J.J. Carrasco and H. Johansson, Five-point amplitudes in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super-Yang-Mills theory and $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 025006 [arXiv:1106.4711] [INSPIRE].
- [4] Z. Bern, J.J.M. Carrasco, L.J. Dixon, H. Johansson and R. Roiban, Simplifying multiloop integrands and ultraviolet divergences of gauge theory and gravity amplitudes, *Phys. Rev.* D 85 (2012) 105014 [arXiv:1201.5366] [INSPIRE].
- [5] Z. Bern, C. Boucher-Veronneau and H. Johansson, $\mathcal{N} \geq 4$ supergravity amplitudes from gauge theory at one loop, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 105035 [arXiv:1107.1935] [INSPIRE].
- [6] C. Boucher-Veronneau and L.J. Dixon, $\mathcal{N} \geq 4$ supergravity amplitudes from gauge theory at two loops, JHEP 12 (2011) 046 [arXiv:1110.1132] [INSPIRE].
- [7] Z. Bern, S. Davies, T. Dennen and Y.-t. Huang, Absence of three-loop four-point divergences in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supergravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 201301 [arXiv:1202.3423] [INSPIRE].
- [8] Z. Bern, J.J.M. Carrasco, H. Johansson and R. Roiban, Five-loop four-point amplitude of N = 4 super-Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 241602 [arXiv:1207.6666] [INSPIRE].
- Z. Bern, S. Davies, T. Dennen and Y.-t. Huang, Ultraviolet cancellations in half-maximal supergravity as a consequence of the double-copy structure, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 105014
 [arXiv:1209.2472] [INSPIRE].
- [10] J.J.M. Carrasco, M. Chiodaroli, M. Günaydin and R. Roiban, One-loop four-point amplitudes in pure and matter-coupled $\mathcal{N} \leq 4$ supergravity, JHEP **03** (2013) 056 [arXiv:1212.1146] [INSPIRE].

- [11] J.J.M. Carrasco, R. Kallosh, R. Roiban and A.A. Tseytlin, On the U(1) duality anomaly and the S-matrix of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supergravity, JHEP 07 (2013) 029 [arXiv:1303.6219] [INSPIRE].
- Z. Bern, S. Davies and T. Dennen, The ultraviolet structure of half-maximal supergravity with matter multiplets at two and three loops, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 065007 [arXiv:1305.4876]
 [INSPIRE].
- [13] Z. Bern, S. Davies, T. Dennen, A.V. Smirnov and V.A. Smirnov, Ultraviolet properties of *N* = 4 supergravity at four loops, Phys. Rev. Lett. **111** (2013) 231302 [arXiv:1309.2498] [INSPIRE].
- [14] R.H. Boels, B.A. Kniehl, O.V. Tarasov and G. Yang, Color-kinematic duality for form factors, JHEP 02 (2013) 063 [arXiv:1211.7028] [INSPIRE].
- [15] Z. Bern, S. Davies, T. Dennen, Y.-t. Huang and J. Nohle, Color-kinematics duality for pure Yang-Mills and gravity at one and two loops, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 045041
 [arXiv:1303.6605] [INSPIRE].
- [16] R. Monteiro and D. O'Connell, The kinematic algebra from the self-dual sector, JHEP 07 (2011) 007 [arXiv:1105.2565] [INSPIRE].
- [17] R.H. Boels, R.S. Isermann, R. Monteiro and D. O'Connell, Colour-kinematics duality for one-loop rational amplitudes, JHEP 04 (2013) 107 [arXiv:1301.4165] [INSPIRE].
- [18] R. Monteiro and D. O'Connell, The kinematic algebras from the scattering equations, JHEP 03 (2014) 110 [arXiv:1311.1151] [INSPIRE].
- [19] Z. Bern, T. Dennen, Y.-t. Huang and M. Kiermaier, Gravity as the square of gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 065003 [arXiv:1004.0693] [INSPIRE].
- [20] M. Tolotti and S. Weinzierl, Construction of an effective Yang-Mills Lagrangian with manifest BCJ duality, JHEP 07 (2013) 111 [arXiv:1306.2975] [INSPIRE].
- [21] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard and P. Vanhove, Minimal basis for gauge theory amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 (2009) 161602 [arXiv:0907.1425] [INSPIRE].
- [22] S. Stieberger, Open & closed vs. pure open string disk amplitudes, arXiv:0907.2211
 [INSPIRE].
- [23] S.-H. Henry Tye and Y. Zhang, Dual identities inside the gluon and the graviton scattering amplitudes, JHEP 06 (2010) 071 [Erratum ibid. 04 (2011) 114] [arXiv:1003.1732]
 [INSPIRE].
- [24] C.R. Mafra, O. Schlotterer and S. Stieberger, Explicit BCJ numerators from pure spinors, JHEP 07 (2011) 092 [arXiv:1104.5224] [INSPIRE].
- [25] C.R. Mafra, O. Schlotterer and S. Stieberger, Complete N-point superstring disk amplitude II. Amplitude and hypergeometric function structure, Nucl. Phys. B 873 (2013) 461
 [arXiv:1106.2646] [INSPIRE].
- [26] C.R. Mafra and O. Schlotterer, The structure of n-point one-loop open superstring amplitudes, JHEP 08 (2014) 099 [arXiv:1203.6215] [INSPIRE].
- [27] J. Broedel, O. Schlotterer and S. Stieberger, Polylogarithms, multiple zeta values and superstring amplitudes, Fortschr. Phys. 61 (2013) 812 [arXiv:1304.7267] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A. Ochirov and P. Tourkine, BCJ duality and double copy in the closed string sector, JHEP 05 (2014) 136 [arXiv:1312.1326] [INSPIRE].

- [29] S. Stieberger and T.R. Taylor, Closed string amplitudes as single-valued open string amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 881 (2014) 269 [arXiv:1401.1218] [INSPIRE].
- [30] C.R. Mafra and O. Schlotterer, Multiparticle SYM equations of motion and pure spinor BRST blocks, JHEP 07 (2014) 153 [arXiv:1404.4986] [INSPIRE].
- [31] T. Bargheer, S. He and T. McLoughlin, New relations for three-dimensional supersymmetric scattering amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 231601 [arXiv:1203.0562] [INSPIRE].
- [32] Y.-t. Huang and H. Johansson, Equivalent D = 3 supergravity amplitudes from double copies of three-algebra and two-algebra gauge theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 171601
 [arXiv:1210.2255] [INSPIRE].
- [33] Y.-t. Huang, H. Johansson and S. Lee, On three-algebra and bi-fundamental matter amplitudes and integrability of supergravity, JHEP 11 (2013) 050 [arXiv:1307.2222] [INSPIRE].
- [34] F. Cachazo, Fundamental BCJ relation in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM from the connected formulation, arXiv:1206.5970 [INSPIRE].
- [35] F. Cachazo and Y. Geyer, A 'twistor string' inspired formula for tree-level scattering amplitudes in $\mathcal{N} = 8$ SUGRA, arXiv:1206.6511 [INSPIRE].
- [36] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, Scattering equations and Kawai-Lewellen-Tye orthogonality, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 065001 [arXiv:1306.6575] [INSPIRE].
- [37] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, Scattering of massless particles: scalars, gluons and gravitons, JHEP 07 (2014) 033 [arXiv:1309.0885] [INSPIRE].
- [38] M. Chiodaroli, Q. Jin and R. Roiban, Color/kinematics duality for general abelian orbifolds of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory, JHEP **01** (2014) 152 [arXiv:1311.3600] [INSPIRE].
- [39] H. Kawai, D.C. Lewellen and S.-H.H. Tye, A relation between tree amplitudes of closed and open strings, Nucl. Phys. B 269 (1986) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [40] Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon, M. Perelstein and J.S. Rozowsky, Multileg one loop gravity amplitudes from gauge theory, Nucl. Phys. B 546 (1999) 423 [hep-th/9811140] [INSPIRE].
- [41] H. Johansson, A. Sabio Vera, E. Serna Campillo and M.Á. Vázquez-Mozo, Color-kinematics duality in multi-Regge kinematics and dimensional reduction, JHEP 10 (2013) 215 [arXiv:1307.3106] [INSPIRE].
- [42] Z. Bern, A. De Freitas and H.L. Wong, On the coupling of gravitons to matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 84 (2000) 3531 [hep-th/9912033] [INSPIRE].
- [43] M. Chiodaroli, M. Günaydin, H. Johansson and R. Roiban, Scattering amplitudes in N = 2 Maxwell-Einstein and Yang-Mills/Einstein supergravity, JHEP 01 (2015) 081
 [arXiv:1408.0764] [INSPIRE].
- [44] B. Feng, R. Huang and Y. Jia, Gauge amplitude identities by on-shell recursion relation in S-matrix program, Phys. Lett. B 695 (2011) 350 [arXiv:1004.3417] [INSPIRE].
- [45] Y.-X. Chen, Y.-J. Du and B. Feng, A proof of the explicit minimal-basis expansion of tree amplitudes in gauge field theory, JHEP 02 (2011) 112 [arXiv:1101.0009] [INSPIRE].
- [46] Y.-J. Du, B. Feng and C.-H. Fu, BCJ relation of color scalar theory and KLT relation of gauge theory, JHEP 08 (2011) 129 [arXiv:1105.3503] [INSPIRE].
- [47] Z. Kunszt, Combined use of the CALKUL method and N = 1 supersymmetry to calculate QCD six-parton processes, Nucl. Phys. B 271 (1986) 333 [INSPIRE].

- [48] V.P. Nair, A current algebra for some gauge theory amplitudes, Phys. Lett. B 214 (1988) 215 [INSPIRE].
- [49] L.D. Faddeev and V.N. Popov, Feynman diagrams for the Yang-Mills field, Phys. Lett. B 25 (1967) 29 [INSPIRE].
- [50] J.M. Drummond and J.M. Henn, All tree-level amplitudes in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM, JHEP **04** (2009) 018 [arXiv:0808.2475] [INSPIRE].
- [51] L.J. Dixon, J.M. Henn, J. Plefka and T. Schuster, All tree-level amplitudes in massless QCD, JHEP 01 (2011) 035 [arXiv:1010.3991] [INSPIRE].
- [52] C. Reuschle and S. Weinzierl, Decomposition of one-loop QCD amplitudes into primitive amplitudes based on shuffle relations, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 105020 [arXiv:1310.0413]
 [INSPIRE].
- [53] T. Melia, Dyck words and multiquark primitive amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 014020 [arXiv:1304.7809] [INSPIRE].
- [54] T. Melia, Getting more flavor out of one-flavor QCD, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 074012
 [arXiv:1312.0599] [INSPIRE].
- [55] Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon, D.C. Dunbar and D.A. Kosower, One loop n point gauge theory amplitudes, unitarity and collinear limits, Nucl. Phys. B 425 (1994) 217 [hep-ph/9403226]
 [INSPIRE].
- [56] Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon, D.C. Dunbar and D.A. Kosower, Fusing gauge theory tree amplitudes into loop amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 435 (1995) 59 [hep-ph/9409265] [INSPIRE].
- [57] J. Nohle, Color-kinematics duality in one-loop four-gluon amplitudes with matter, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 025020 [arXiv:1309.7416] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M.T. Grisaru, H.N. Pendleton and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, Supergravity and the S matrix, Phys. Rev. D 15 (1977) 996 [INSPIRE].
- [59] M.T. Grisaru and H.N. Pendleton, Some properties of scattering amplitudes in supersymmetric theories, Nucl. Phys. B 124 (1977) 81 [INSPIRE].
- [60] S.J. Parke and T.R. Taylor, Perturbative QCD utilizing extended supersymmetry, Phys. Lett. B 157 (1985) 81 [Erratum ibid. B 174 (1986) 465] [INSPIRE].
- [61] M.L. Mangano and S.J. Parke, Multiparton amplitudes in gauge theories, Phys. Rept. 200 (1991) 301 [hep-th/0509223] [INSPIRE].
- [62] Z. Bern and D.A. Kosower, Color decomposition of one loop amplitudes in gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 362 (1991) 389 [INSPIRE].
- [63] N. Arkani-Hamed, J.L. Bourjaily, F. Cachazo, S. Caron-Huot and J. Trnka, The all-loop integrand for scattering amplitudes in planar N = 4 SYM, JHEP 01 (2011) 041 [arXiv:1008.2958] [INSPIRE].
- [64] N. Arkani-Hamed et al., Scattering amplitudes and the positive Grassmannian, arXiv:1212.5605 [INSPIRE].
- [65] Z. Bern and A.G. Morgan, Massive loop amplitudes from unitarity, Nucl. Phys. B 467 (1996) 479 [hep-ph/9511336] [INSPIRE].
- [66] Y.-t. Huang and D. McGady, Consistency conditions for gauge theory S matrices from requirements of generalized unitarity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 (2014) 241601 [arXiv:1307.4065]
 [INSPIRE].

- [67] D.C. Dunbar and P.S. Norridge, Calculation of graviton scattering amplitudes using string based methods, Nucl. Phys. B 433 (1995) 181 [hep-th/9408014] [INSPIRE].
- [68] Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon and D.A. Kosower, One loop corrections to five gluon amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 70 (1993) 2677 [hep-ph/9302280] [INSPIRE].
- [69] P. Tourkine and P. Vanhove, One-loop four-graviton amplitudes in N = 4 supergravity models, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 045001 [arXiv:1208.1255] [INSPIRE].
- [70] M.H. Goroff and A. Sagnotti, Quantum gravity at two loops, Phys. Lett. B 160 (1985) 81
 [INSPIRE].
- [71] M.H. Goroff and A. Sagnotti, The ultraviolet behavior of Einstein gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 266 (1986) 709 [INSPIRE].
- [72] A.E.M. van de Ven, Two loop quantum gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 378 (1992) 309 [INSPIRE].
- [73] M.T. Grisaru, Two loop renormalizability of supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 66 (1977) 75 [INSPIRE].
- [74] E. Tomboulis, On the two loop divergences of supersymmetric gravitation, Phys. Lett. B 67 (1977) 417 [INSPIRE].
- [75] S. Deser, J.H. Kay and K.S. Stelle, Renormalizability properties of supergravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977) 527 [arXiv:1506.03757] [INSPIRE].
- [76] P.S. Howe and U. Lindström, Higher order invariants in extended supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 181 (1981) 487 [INSPIRE].